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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshire

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund,
and aggregate remaining fund imformation of the City of Lebanon as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of Amcrica; this inclodes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures 1o obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessmem of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due 1o fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order (o design audit procedures that ayc
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
contral. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion,

Opinions

In our opinion, the linancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all materia) respects, the respective financial position
of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Lebancn as of December 31, 20135, and the respective changes in financial position. the respective budgetary comparison for the
major general fund and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
gencrally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note |-S and 2-C 1o the financial statements, in 2015, the Town changed its method of accounting for pension
reporting with the adoption of Governmental Accounting Standards Bourd Statement (GASB) No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions and as amendcd by GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Subsequent to the
Measurement Date. Our opinions are not modified with respect o this matter.



City of Lebanon
Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Mutters

Required Supplementary Information - Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America tequire that
the Management's Discussion and Analysis (pages 3 through 14), Schedule of [Funding Progress for Other Postemployment
Benefit Plan (page 58), Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (page 59), and Schedule of City
Contributions (page 60) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statewenis, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considess them to be an essential
pan of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.
We have applied certain hmited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquirics of management about the metheds of preparing
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statcments, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion ot
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinicn or provide any assurance.

Other Information - Our audijt was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Lebanon’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund schedules are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and arc not a required part of the basic financial statements. The Schedule of Expenditures of
Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular
A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and 1s also not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

‘the combining and individual fund financial schedules and schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
staterments and certamn additional procedures including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the combining and individual fund financial schedules and schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated,
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole,

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 12, 2016 on our
consideration of the City of Lebanon’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that repott is to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinjon on infernal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an andif performed in
accordance with Government Aunditing Standards in considering the City of Lebanon’s internal contro) over financial yeporting
and compliance,

September 12,2016
PLODZIK & SANDI-RSON
Professional Association



City of L.ebanon, Neww Hampshire
Management’s Discussion and Analysls

As management cf the City of Lebanon, we offer readers of these financial statements this narralive overview and
analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. The City’s financial
performance is discussed and analyzed within the context of the accompanying financial statements and the disclosures
that follow this section.

A.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the basic financial statemenis, which are
comprisced of four components: 1. government-wide financial staterments, 2. fund financial statements, 3. notes
to the basic financial statements, and 4 required supplementary information. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements — Statement of Net
Position; Statemeni of Activilties -~ are designed to provide readers with both short- and long-term information
about the City’'s overall financial status. Financial reporting at this level uses a perspective similar to that
found in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting and elimination or reclassification of activities
between funds.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, defeited outflows of resources,
liabilities, and defcired inflow of resources with the difference reported as vet position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City as a
whole is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed during the most
recent fiscal ycar, All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of rclated cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, uncollected
taxes).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all
or a significant portion of their costs through uscr fees and charges (business-type activities). The
governmental activities include general government, public safety, highways and streets, welfare, culture and
recreation, conservation, and interest on long-term debt. The business-type activities included solid waste
disposal, water trealment and distribution, sewage collection and disposal, and municipal airport activities.

Fund Financial Statcments. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control aver
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Fund accounting is used to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. Al funds of the City are divided into three
calegories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities
in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements,
governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as
well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be
useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is aarrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it
is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental
fund balance sheet and the goveramental fund statement of revenues. expenditures, and changes in fund
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmmental funds and governmental
activities. An annual appropriated budget is adopted for the general fund. A budgetary comparison statement
has been provided for the general fund to demonsirate compliance with this budget.

Proprietary funds are used 10 account for activities that receive significant support from fees and charges A
type of proprietary fund is an enterprise fund; enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented
as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. [t was defermined in 2014 that based
on the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34 that the City's
solid waste disposal, water treatment and distribution, sewage collection and disposal, and municipal airport
funds qualify for presentation in the financial statements as busingss-type activities,



Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City. Fiduciary
funds are not reflecled in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not
available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used
for private enterprises.

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information. In addition to this Management’s Discussion and Analysis the basic
financial statements and accompanying notes are followed by a section of required supplementary information.
This section includes Funding Progress for Other Postemployment Benefits Plans and information about the
New Hampshire Retirement Syster as required under GASB 63.

Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents certain supplementary information which is required to be disclosed by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

In comparison to the prior year, as of the close of the current fiscal year:

. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources by $96,070,723.

] Governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $7,601,434, a decrease of
<§4,567,097>,

L] General fund unassigned fund balance was $6,113,472, an increase of $858,038.

® General obligation bonds payable (governmental and business-type activities combined) was
$45,412,715, a decrease of <§4,255,024>.

. Annual requirements (governmental and business-type activities combined) to amortize general
obligation bonds payable (principal and interest) was $58,602.459, a decrease of <§6,589,362>.

° Authorized and unissued debt was $39,572,842, an increase of $6,398,920.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

At the close of the current fiscal year, total assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $96,070,723, a decrease of <$17,000,772> in comparison fo the
prior year.

The largest portion of net position ($123,567,381) represents investment in capital assets (land, building,
machinery and equipment and infrastructure) less related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding. These capital assets are used by the City to provide services to citizens and are, consequently, not
available for future spending. Although the investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

NET POSITION
Govermmanial Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2016 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Current and Other Assets $25,705,867 $27,069,968  $22,991,379  $24,447859  $47,439,038  §51,517,627
Capttal Assets $87,465,723 $78.664,409 $83.285,635  $75.654,664  $158,940.29¢ $154.319,073
Total Assets $113,171,580  $105,734377  $106,277,014  $100,102,323  $208,379.337 $205,838.700

Deferred Outflows of Resources  $1.012,507 5780428 $114.,4398 $88,252 $202,748 $868,680
Long-lerm Liabilities Outstanding $46,280.375 $47,125,901 $32.970.568 34,570,567  $67.541.135 $81,896.468
Other Liabilities $17953.218  $14,260.499 822,330,046  §14,247606  $36,588,652 328,507,105

Tota) Ligdilitles  $64,233,594 $61,385,400 $55,309.614 $48,818,173  $104,127,787 $110,203.573
Deferred (nflows of Resources  $2,851.531 $4,847,239 $2,110,145 $2.387.867 $4,498.012 $7.235,108
Net Position:

Nel nvestment in Capital Assets 362,352,232 $51,339,725 $61,215,149 $51,685,860 $112.901.008 $103,025,585
Reslricted $1,263,311 $4,101,849 $2,100,337 $1,460,630 $3.560,967 $5,562,479
Unrestricted (316,516.571)  ($15,158,408)  (514.343,735) ($4,161,955)  ($18,505,690) (§19,321, i3

Total Net Position  §47,098,872 $40,282.168 $48.971.751 $48.984,535 §97.856.208Q  $89.266.701

4



An additional portion of net position (83,363,648) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions
on how they may be used: the cemaining batance represents the pant of net position of the City that can be used
to finance day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt covenants, enabling legislation, or
other legal requirements (unrestricted).

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Govaernmantal Activities Buginess-Type Agtivities Total
20186 2014 201% 2014 2018 2014
Revanues
Program Revenues --
Chacrges for Semces $1,479,280 81,454 171 $11,098310 510,579,832 $12,577,570 $12.034,003
Operating Grants and Contributions 52,359,981 §487,5686 $1,299,095 $391.432 $3,659.076 $879,018
Capilal Grants and Contributions $241,087 $10,000 30 $1,053.589 §$241,067 $1,083,599
Ganaral Revenues —
Propery and Other Taxes $19,349.721 $19,000,133 $0 $0 $19,349,721 $19,000,133
Licenses & Permits 32,752,103 $2.505,928 $0 30 $2,752.103 $2.505,928
Grants and Contributions Not
Resmicled lo Specific Programs $737.817 $2,731,242 50 S0 $737.817 $2,731,242
Olher Genaral Revenues $721,136 $§532,791 3724.740 $725.378 $1.445,876 51,258,187
Total Revenues 327,641,085 326,721,851 $13,122,145  $12,750,239 340,763,230 $39,472.090
[Transfers §716.435 $1.037,825 (p718,435)  {§1,037,825} $0 30
Total Revenues (ncluding Transfers $28,357,520 §27,759,676 §12405770  $11,712,414 $40,763,230 $32,472,090
Expenses:
Ganeral Govemment $5,596,324 $5,251,081 $0 $0 $5,596,324 $5.251.091
Putllc Safety $9,830.684 $9,980,068 $0 30 $9.038.684 $9,980,088
Highway ang Streels $2,081,933 83,131,240 $0 30 §$2,061,833 $3,131,240
Sanitabon S0 $0 $0 30 $0 $0
Sewage Cofection and Disposal %0 $0 $4,035,393 $5,701,808 $4,035,393 $5,701,808
Solid Waste Disposal $0 $0 §2,221,844 $2.501,202 $2.221,844 32,501,262
Governmental Activities = g38-Type Adtivitles Tota)
2018 2014 2016 2014 2016 2014
[Water Oistnbution and Treatment $6.916 30 $4,114,149 $1,965,032 $4.121,0685 $1,885,032
Weifare $431,641 $401,680 $0 $0 $431,841 $401.880
JMunicipal Avport 30 $0 $2.047,108 $1.462,386 32,047 108 $1,462,396
Cullure end Recreation $2,308,466 $2,148,554 $0 $0 $2,308.466 $2,148,554
Conservalon $29,820 $58,817 $0 $0 $£29,820 $58.817
(nterest on Lang-~term Debt $1,186,930 $1,346,983 50 50 31,166,930 $1 346,983
Cepitztt Outlay 30 30 $0 $0 30 $0
Total Expenses $21.540.714 522,318,433 512,418,434  $11,475.778 $33,859,208 $33.794.211
Change in Net Position $6.816,808 56,441,243 (812,784) $238,636 $6,804,022 $5.677.879
Net Position Beglnong 1/1 (Restated
See Note 19) §40,282,186 $66,633,977 $48,884,535  $50,759 632 389,266,701 $107,393,616
Net Position Ending 12/31 $47 008 972 $62 075 220 489071751  $50.998 275 $86.070 723 $113.071.495

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
Governmental activities for

Governmeutal Activities.
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
the year resulted in a change in net position of $6,816,806.




Amount

Net Change in general fund balance $1,026,904
Net change in capital improvements fund batance ($5,505,260)
Net change (n other governmental funds fund balance ($88,741)
Capitel outtays exceed depreciation expense and asset disposals $8,801.314
Pension expenditure adjustments including to net of employee contributions $604.004
Revenus that does not provide current financial resources 848,259
Offset the effect of providing/using resotirces through the issuance/repayment of long-term principat debt $2,211,193
Change in accrued interest expense, compensated absences payable, and postemployment benefits payable (5280,867)

Total  $6,818,806

Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services

Amount % Amount Y%
Governmeantal Activitles:
General Government $5.596.324 26 0% (55,422,828) 31.1%
Public Safety $9.838.684 46.1%  (58,628,120) 49 4%
Highway and Streets $2.061,933 9.6%  (§1,763,224) 10.1%
Water Distribution and Treatment $6,916 0.0% $0 0.0%
Health $0 0.0% $19,223 -0.1%
Welfare $431,641 2.0% ($431,641) 2.5%
Culture ang Recreation $2,308,466 10.7% ($2,059,6806) 11.8%
Conservation $29,820 0.1% ($29,820) 0.2%
(nigrest on Long-Term Debt $1,166,930 5.4% ($1,166,930) 8.7%
Capltal Outtay $0 0.0% $2,022,540 -11.6%

Total g2 540,714 100.0%  ($17,460,406) 100.0%

Program revenues of $4,080,308 covered 18.9% of program expenses. The remaining 81.1% was financed by
general revenues including property and other taxes, licenses & permits, grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs and other general revenues. The primary funding source for governmental activities is
taxes of $19,349,721 (property taxes, $17,950,092; other taxes, $1,399,629). Property taxes are about 64.9%
of total program and general revenues. The Public Safety function makes up 46.1% of the total governmental
activities expenses followed by General Government, 26.0%, and Public Works 9.6%.

Business-type Activities.  Business-type activities for the year resulted in a change in net position of
$<12,784>,

Amount
Solid waste disposal operations $383.345
Waler treatment and distribution operations ($1,397,112)
Sewage coltection and disposal operatlons $613,658
Municipal airport operations $387,325
Total {$12.784)
Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services
Amount % Amount %
Business Type Activities:
Solid Waste Disgosal $2.221,844 17.9% 876,781 -4157.5%
\Nater Treatment and Distribution $4,114,148 33.1% {$1,339,912) 6353.6%
Sawage Collection and Disposa)l $4,035,393 32.5% $775,151 -3675.6%
Municipal Arrport $2,047,108 18.5% ($333,109) 1579.5%
Total §12.418.494 100.0% (321.088) 100.0%




FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF CITY OF LEBANON FUNDS

The City of Lebanon uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. The focus of this section is specific to funds and types of funds versus entity-wide.

Governmental Funds. The focus of governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows and balances of spendable resources. This information is useful in determining financing
requirements. Of particular interest is unassigned fund balance, which may serve as a useful measure of net
resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. Unassigned Fund Balance is the residual
classification for the City's general fund and includes all amounts not contained in other fund balance
component classifications and therefore not subject to any constraints.

At the close of the current fiscal year, governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
87,601,434, a decrease of <$4,567,097>.

The City Council Fund Balance Policy states that it {s the goal of the City to maintain an unassigned fund
balance of 15.0% to 17.0% of current year general fund budgeted expenditures. The City considers a balance
of less than 15.0% to be a cause for concern and, taking into account factors or circumstances that may require
a higher than normal maximum level of unassigned fund balance, a balance of more than 17.0% as excessive.
An amount in excess of 15.0% may be considered to reduce tax levy requirements determined in conjunction
with the annual budget process, as a capital improvement funding cormponent, for reservation to accumulate
funding for future capital improvements, or for any legal purpose deemed appropriate and desirable by the City
Council.

In the event unassigned fund balance is less than 15.0%, restorative steps shall be taken in the immediate
subsequent fiscal years.

KEY ELEMENTS OF CHANGE IN COMBINED FUND B CES

Genera| fund revenugs and transfers in exceed expenditures ang transfers out $1,026,904
Capllal improvements fund expenditures exoeed revenues ang transfers in ($5,505,280)
Other govermnmental funds expendilures and rensfers out exceed revenues and transfers in (§88,741)

Nel Change in Fund Balances  (§4. 567 097)

Other Govemmental Funds:

Library fund expendilures exceed revenues and transfers in {$933)
Public safety revotving fund (Police) expenditures exceed revenues ($27,630)
Lebanon open space fund expenditures exceed cevenues angd trensfers in {$41,502)
Publlc safety revolving fund (Fire) expenditures exceed revenues ($8,163)
Fammners markel fund revenues exceed expenditures $1,509
Permaneant fund (cemetery perpetual care) revenues exceed expenditures and trensfers out {£11,922)

Net Changa in Fund Balances (588,741)

UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2015

Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis:
Unassigned Fund Balance 1/1 §6,681,942

Percentage of total gensral fund current year budgaeted expendlitures 22.3%
Changes:
Unassigned fund balance used to reduce 2015 tax rate and voted from surplus ($1,049,551)
Revenue surplus $137.931
Unexpended balance of appropriations $1.759,897
(ncrease in nonspendable fund balance {$31,177)
Increase in assigned for abatement contingency 32,156
Unasslgned fund balance 12/31 non-GAAP budgetary basls  $6,601,198
Parcentage of total general fund current year budgetad axpenditures 23.2%

Reconcilialion of Non-GAAP Basis to GAAP Basis;

Deferral of property taxes not collected within 60 days of year-end ($585,630)

Ellminallon of the aflowance for vncollectible taxes $107,904
Unassigned fund balance 12/31 GAAP basis $6,113,472




‘The Fund Balance Policy is not intended to preclude the administrative application of unassigned fund balance
as a companion to the budgeted application of unassigned fund balance as a mivigating utility in settng the
annual municipal fax rate.

Other funds, such as the solid waste disposal, watcer treatiment and distribution, sewage collection and djsposal,
municipal airport, emergency management and capital improvements funds, exist primarily to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with limitations on the use of existing resources. The general fund, as the chief
operating fund of the City, has a broader mandate. Accordingly, the Fund Balance Policy is himited to the
general fund.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets. Total investment in capital assets at year end was $170,751,358 (net of accumulated
depreciation).

2015 GAPITAL ASSETS

Amount Amount

Governmental Activities Business-type Aclivities:
Not being depracialed Not being depreciated:
Land $7.279,265 Lang 585,500
Intangible assets $82,197 Conslruction in progress $20,270,869
Conztrugtion in progress $12,475,460 Tolal $20,887,369

Total $19,836.822 Net of depreciation.
Nel ol depreciation: Land (mprovements $13.374,036
Lang Improvements $1,538,087 Building and Building Improvements $12,013,975
Building ang Building lmprovements $14,400,337 Machmnery snd Equipment $2,657,007
Machinery and Cquipmenl $4,338,134 |Infrastructure $34,353,248
Infrestructure 847,352,243 Total %67 398,266

Total $87,628,801 Net BV business-type aclivities capital assets $83,285.635

Net BV valuc governmental activibes capital
assets  §£87 465,723 Net 8V all capital assets $170.751.358

BV = 8ook Value

2015 CAPITAL BUDGET
Purpose: Amount Source of Financlng: Amount
Streels and Ltilities $9,250,000 Intergovernmental (Grants) $2,744,000
Bulldings $280,000 Debt Proceeds $7.245,920
Vebicles and Equipment $1,255,000 (nlerfung Transfers $1,605,080
Oihar $810,000
Total  $11.595.000 Total  $11.595.000

The capital improvements fund is where the acquisition or construction of major, expensive. and long-lived
capital facilities are budgeted. Operating budgets are period oriented (January | 1o December 31); the capital
improvements budget is project oriented.

The capital improvements budget for 2015 was $11,595,000, consisting of an original budget of $10,845,000
supplemented on July 15, 2016 by a $750,000 appropriation in connection with the NH120/Etna Road Sewer
Improvements project.

Long-Term Debt

At the close of the cuwrrent fiscal year, General obligation bonds payable (governmental and business-type
activities combined) was $45,412,715, a decrease of <$4,255,024>; annual requirements (governmenial and
business-type activitics combined) to amortize general obligation bonds payable (principal and interest) was
$58,602,459, a decrease of <§6,589,362>; authorized and unissued debt was $39,572,842, an increase ofl
$6,398,920. All outstanding debt is general obligation debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City.



Combined Sewer Overflow Separation and Utility Replacement Program: The U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) notified the City in November 2007 that it planned to file a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for
the State of New Hampshire regarding alleged violations of the Clean Water Act based on a sewer and storm
water systern in certain older sections of the City that discharged untreated sewer and storm water into two
rivers and a brook. As of 2000, the City's system consisted of approximately 38 miles of sewer and
interceptors, with approximately 40% of the sewer system comprised of combined sewers conveying both
sanitary sewer and storm water flows.

LONG-TERM LIASILITIES, DECEMBER 31, 2015

[Governmantal activities:

Balance 1/1
(s restated) Additons Reductions  Balanoe 12/31
General Obligation Bonds Payabla $26,559,763 30 ($2,411,483) 824,148,280
Unamortized Bongd Premium $700.728 30 ($56,012) $644,716
Tolal bonds payable  $27,260,491 30  ($2,467,495) $24.792,996
Capital Leases Payable $64,193 $389,215 ($132,913) $320,495
Compensated Absences Payable $1,223,837 $156,666 {$9,929) 31,372,574
Net Other Postemployment Benefits 1,197,314 582,764 $0 $1,280.108

Total  $29.745.835 $630.675  ($2.610,337) $27.766.173
Business-type activities:
Balance 11 Additions Reductions  Balance 12/31

General Obligation Bonds Payable $23,107.976 50  (31,843,541) $21,264,435
Unamoctized Bond Premivm $860,828 $0 ($54,777) $806.051

Total bonds payable  $23,968.804 $0  ($1,898,318) $22,070.486
Compensated Absences Payable $321,528 $6.924 {316,542} $311,908
Accrued Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs $8,081,798 $152.673 30 $8,244,471
Net Other Postemployment Benefits $223,075 $27.015 30 $250,090

Total  $32.605.203 $186.612  (51.914.860) $30,876.958

In 2000, the EPA issued an Administrative Order that required the City to eliminate six of seven combined
sewer overflows by December 31, 2008 and the seventh by December 31, 2012. The City made substantial
progress on this but faced a series of logistical challenges that hampered its efforts and delayed the schedule.
Because of the delay and the inability of the City to fulflil the requirements of the Administrative Order, the
EPA and City negotiated the terms of a consent decree with a revised schedule to settle the lawsuit that was
filed at the same time at the federal district court on May 27, 2009. The revised schedule will complete the
elimination of combined sewer overflows no later than 2020.

It was clear from the beginning that the mandated work was going to substantially affect a significant portion
of the City. It was therefore decided by the City Council to expand the scope of the work to include not just
combined sewer overflow separation but zlso replacement of the aging water and sewer infrastructure and
necessary streetscape improvements and upgrades at the same time.

From 2000 through 2015, the City has appropriated $51.678 million for combined sewer overflow separation
and utility replacement; an additional $5,070,000 was appropriated in 2016; $12,800,000 has been identified
in the City’s 2017 - 2022 Capital [mprovements Program for appropriation in 2017 and 2018 making the total
appropriation for the work when completed $69.548 million. Future appropriations are subject to revision
depending on construction market activity and how that activity translates into costs and timelines,
construction conditions and engineering revisions.

Debt (general obligation and loans through the State Revolving Fund) is the primary source of financing the
combined sewer overflow separation and utility replacement work. The consequent cost of borrowing is
apportioned to the general fund, water treatment and distribution fund, and sewage collection and disposal fund
on a 40%, 30%, and 30% basis, respectively. The former is primarily supported through property taxation; the
latter two by user fees.



Source of Financing Amount

Water Trealment and Distribution -und $575,556
Sewage Colleclion and Disposal f und $20,900
General Fund $114.817
Water investment Fees Fund $143.076
Capita) Reserve Fund $432,790
General Obligation Debt $30,905,430
Premum on General Obligation Debt $775.890
Stale Revolving Fund $17,409,805
EPA Grants $299,400
Community Development Block Grant $1,000,000

Total $£51.677,564

The combined sewer overflow separation work was an Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE) project the first two
or three years (2000 - 2002); without that involvement the total expected cost to the City might have been
considerably larger (possibly $3.5 million). Also, the City veceived a CDBG of $1.000 million and an EPA
grant of $299,400 early on in the process. When the plug was pulled on ACOJ: invelvement no financial
assistance was made available from the federal government; the work became the sole responsibility of the
City to finance,

The following tablc details authorized debt that has not yet been issued.

AUTHORIZED AND UNISSUED DEBTY, DECEMBER 31, 2015
Responsible Fund
Water
Treatment Sewage
General and Coillection
[Property Distribution and Disposal
|Yr. Authorized Purpose All Taxes) (Service Fass) {Service Foes)
2001 - 2007 Wastewater Treatment Fachiy Improvements $10.874,184 $0 %0  $10,874.184
Combined Sewer Overflow Separation and Uity
21-Oec-11  Replacement $3,750,000 $1,500,000 $1,125,000 $1,125,000
2°-Oec-11  Mechan c Streel Badge $126,000 $126,000 $0 $0
Combined Sewer Overflow Sepacaton and Ullily
19-Oec-12  Reptacement $3.500,000 $1,400,000 $1.,050,000 $1,050,000
19-Dec-12  NH120 and Elna Road Sewer Improvements $700,000 $0 30 $700.000
Route 4/4A Sewer Force Main Realgnmenl and
19-Dec-12  Replacement $510,000 30 §0 $510,000
Combined Sewer Overflow Separation and Ulility
18-Dec-13  Replacement $4,570.000 £1,828,000 $1,3771,000 $1,371,000
18-Dec-43  NH120 and €(na Road Sewer Improvements $1,870,000 30 $0 $1,870,000




Responsible Fund
Water
Treatment Sewaqge
Genera) and Collection
{Propenty Distribution  and Disposal
Yr. Authorized Purpose Al Taxes) {Service Fees) (Service Fees)
18-Dec-13  Waslewater Pumg Stat on and Infrasiructure $260,000 %0 30 260,000
18-Dec-2  Wastewater Treatment Facility Improvements $3,100,000 S0 $0 $3,100,000
16-Apr-14  Slayton Hill Road Reconstruction $1,876,738 $1,976.738 $0 $0
16-Apr-14  Dulac Street Reconstruction $1,490,000 $1,490,000 $0 $0
17-Dec-14  NH120S8/Schoo) Street Pedestnan Facility $66,000 $66,000 $0 %0
17-Dec-14  Packacd 1110 Bridge #154-113 $100,000 $100,000 $0 %0
17-0ec-14 CSO Separation and Utildy Replacement [SRF) $4,970,000 $1,988,000 $1,491,000 $1,491 000
17-Oec-14 Mechanic Street Reconsiruction $513,920 $513,920 30 %0
17-Dec-14 Mechanic Street Bridge #120-115 $36,000 $36,000 $0 30
Downtown  Misicning  and  Tunnél  Improvemenls
17-Dec-14  (Parking Lot Rai Tuanel) $410,000 $410,000 $0 $0
NH120 and Etna Road Sewer (mprovements (CS-
15-Jul-15  330092-09) %750,000 30 $0 $750,000
Total  $39.572.842 §11,454.0.8 §5.032.000  §$23.101.184

NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

° The 2015 total net agsessed valuation, on which the tax rate for municipal, county and local education
tax is computed, increased $11,870,243 to $1,876,001,874 from 2014. A citywide assessment update took
place in 2015. The last update was in 2010; the next 2020. According to State law, annually, the assessors —
Lebanon Board of Asscssors  shall adjust assessments to reflect changes so that all assessments are
reasonably proportional within the City and that all real estate be reappraised so that assessment are at full and
1rue value at least as often as every five years. (New Hampshire Constitution Part 2 Article 6.)

[ An increase in the total net assessed valuation exerts downwarg pressure on the tax rate; a decrease
has the opposite influence. For 2016, an increase of 0.5%, or $9,380,009, 10 $1,885,381,883, is estimated.
Additional provision was made for assessment challenges in 2015 projected forward to 2016. This is rypical
coming out of a citywide asscssment update. So-called “overlay” is the taking inlo account of the raising of
additional taxes to offset taxes that might not be collected to varying degrees such as in the form of
abatements. As 2016 progresses it is expected the Chief Assessor will be in a better position to asscss the
potential exposure to the City in terins of appeals.

. The property tax rate is computed as a means to bridge the gap between non-property tax revenues,
spending and statutory tax credits and property assessment abateinents.  The Total Tax Rate is made up of four
constituent rates; Muanicipal (general City services), School: Local, Schoo): State and County. Appropriations
(authorization to spend public moneys) are a legislative act. The Lebanon City Council is the City’s Jegislative
body; the Lebanon School District annual meeting and Grafion County delegation (comprised of state
representatives from Grafion County) are the {egislative bodies for the school and county.

° The 2016 City Budget estimates a 2016 Monicipal ‘I'ax Rate (excluding school and county
components) of $10.39 per $1,000 of assessed value, $0.35, or 3.5%, hicher than ihe comparable 2015 rate. A
property assessed for tax purposes for $250,000 will have an estimated 2016 municipal tax bill of about
$2,598, an increase of $88 over the 2015 municipal tax bill.

The tax rate is set (calculated) by the New Hampshire Departinent of Revenue Administration usually in
October. The 1ax rate for each of the four tax rate components is calculated by subfracting non-property tax
revenues and applied spendable fund balance from legal appropriations and, in the case of the Municipal Tax
Rate, adding provision for taxes that cither will not be collected (War Sesvice Tax Credits) or might not be
collected to varying degrees (abatements), dividing the result, and converting same, 1o a raie expressed per
$1,000 of assessed real estate value, by the Net Valuation on Which the Tax Rate for Municipal, County &
Local Education Tax is Computed and, for state education tax rate, the Net Valuation on Which Tax Rate for
State Education Tax is Computed. The 2015 City Budget concerns the Municipal Tax Rate only.



HIOW the Amount to Be Raised by Property Taxes is distributed is delermined by property values that the
Lebanon Board of Assessors has to ensure by law are reasonably proportional within the City and that all
taxable property was appraised to the best of the Board’s knowledge and belief at its full value, in accordance
with state appraisal standards. WHAT the amounl to be raised by propeiy taxes consists of is determined
through the city, school, state and county budget processes.

Tax bills are mailed on or around Tune 1 and November ) each year, with interest aceruing at a rate of 12% on
bills omstanding for more than 30 days. Within (8 months of the date assessed (April 1), the Tax Collector
places a lien on properties for all uncollected property taxes. The lien on these properties has priority over
other liens and accrues interest at 18% por annuin.  If propecty is not redeemed (taxes, penaliies and interest)
within the 2-year redemption period, the property is tax deeded 1o the city. The June billing is considered an
estimate only. It is based by law on one-half of the prior year's tax rate. The balance of taxes due, taking into
account current year budget activity, is billed in the fall afier the New Hampshire Deparument of Revenue
Administration has calculated the City's tax rate.

Property taxes billed and collected by the City include taxes levied for the Lebanon School District and
Grafion County, which are remitted to those governmental umnits as required by law. The former is paid over
the course of the based on a cash requirements schedule provided by the district; the latter is paid in December.
Both the Lebanon School District and Grafton County receive thejr respective assessment no matter what may
transpire respecting abatement activity angd outcomes as ultimate responsibility for the collection of taxes rests
with the City.

° [.andfill Fees: No change in the fee for disposing solid waste at the landfill is planned for 2016. The
estimated annual cost for an individual is $36.60.

. Water Service Fees: The City Counci) approved a 4.0% water service rate incrcase on November 4,
2015, effective January 1, 2016. Since January 1, 2001, the rate has gone up six times for an average of
15.6%. 7The last three times on April 1, 2011, January 1, 2013 and January 1, 2015 the increases were 8%, 5%
and 4%, respectively. The object of the increases are to moderate service rate jncreases by accumulating
resources in advance as spendable fund balance sufficient for the Water Treatment and Distribution Fund to
absorb projected operation and mainienance and debt service expenses over the next six years. '[he intent is
not 1o overreach but to balance recognition of future potential financial obligations on the Water Treatment and
Distribution Fund, and the ramifications those obligations have on future service rates, and on the fiscal
integrity and soundness of the Water Treatment and Distribution Fund, by adopting meaningful interim rate
adjustments. The cost of capital related (o the Combined Sewer Overflow Separation and Utility Replacement
Program has particularly impacted the General Fund, Watcr Treatment and Distribution Fund and Sewage
Collection and Disposal ] und.

The 2016 waler service rate is $43.65 per 1,000 cubic feet of inetered water consumption; estimated annualized
metered water usage cost for an individual is $158.58, an increase of $6.07, for a household $393.28, an
increase of $15.05; estimated annual household water service cost is 0.54% of the Statewide median household
income ($73,397/2014 US Census Bureau) The City Council also approved a 6.0% sewer service rate
increase. As approved, the estitnated annual household water and sewer service cost combined is 1.62% of the
Statewide median household income.

] Sewer Service Fees: The City Council approved a 6.0% sewer service rate increase on November 4,
2015, effective January 1, 2016. Since Januvary 1, 2002, the rate has gone up cight times for an average of
19.5%. The last four times on April 1, 201), January I, 20(3, January !, 2014 and January [, 2015 the
increases were 8%, 9%, 9%. and 6%, respectively. The object of the increases is to moderate service rate
increases by accuniulating resources in advance as spendable fund balance sufficient for the Water Treatment
and Distribution I'und to absorb projected operation and mainlenance and debt service expenses over the next
six years. The intent is not to overreach but to balance vecognition of fulure potential financial obligations on
the Water Treatment and Distribution Fund, and the ramifications those obligatons have on fulure service
rates. and on the fiscal integrity and soundness of the Water Treatinent and Distribution Fund, by adopting
meaningful interim rate adjustments. The cost of capital related to the Combined Sewer Overflow Separation
and Utibty Replacement Program and the upgrade improveinents to the wastewater treatment facility ($13.9
million), both in progress, have both particularly impacted the Sewage Collection and Disposal Fund.

The 2016 sewer service rate 1s $88.15 per $1,000 cubic feet of melered waler consumption; estimated annual
sewage usage cost (based on metered water consumption) for an individual is $320.24, an increase of $18.12,
for a household $794.20, an increasc of $44.94; estimated annual household sewer service cost is 1.08% of the
Statewide median household income (§73,397/2014 US Census Bureau).  The City Council also approved
4.0% water service rate increase. As approved, the estimated annual household water and sewer service cost
combined is 1.62% of the Statewide median household income,
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e Labor Force Composition:  The 2016 City Budget has 174.38 active full-time equivalent (FTF)
positions (167.00 full-time; 7.38 regular part-time positions excluding seasonal and occasional employees and
call firefighters).  116.00 positions, or 66.5%, are represented by one of four unions. Positions may be
occupied or vacant, funded or unfunded. Positions are required to have an approved budget before they can be
filled.

° The 2016 City Budget provides cxpenditures in the amount of $52,347,280 — an increase of
$1,365,185, or 2.7%, from 2015 -- for the cost of general City govermmenut, solid waste disposal, water
treatment and distribution, sewage collection and disposal, municipal airport operations, emergency
management, and the acquisition or construction of major, expensive and long-lived capital facilities and
equipment. The original budget of $50,647,280 was appropriated December 16, 2015; a supplemental
appropriation of $1,700,000 (NH 120/Etna Road Sewer Improvements) was approved April 20, 2016.

] The general fund is 53.4% of the total 2016 City Budget; capital improvements fund 22.8%; sewage
collection and disposal fund 9.0%; solid waste disposal fund 6.3%; water treatment and distribution fund 6.1%;
municipal airport fund 2.4%; and emergency management fund 0.0%.

o The opersations and maintenance budget — excluding capital improvements, debt service, and interfund
transfers — is 58.8% of the total budget, or $30,785,995, an increase of $1,159,220, or 3.9%.

° Personnel services (wages and statutory and non-statutory employee benefits) are 67.4% of the
operations and maintenance budget, contractual services 21.4%, materials and supplies 10.7%, and property
0.5%. The expenditure mix varies by fund.

a The non-operations and maintenance budget — capital improvements, debt service, and interfund
transfers — is 41.2% of the total budget, or $21,561,285, an increase of $235,935, or 1.1%.

e Capital improvements are 55.3% of the non-operations and maintenance budget, debt service 27.8%,
and interfund transfers 16.9.%.

CITY BUDGETS
2016 2016
Fund Revised Origine} Supplemental Revised Change

General $27,166,140 $27,924,630 30 $27.924,630 $758,490
Solid Waste Disposal $3,257,290 $3.305,740 $0 $3,305,740 $48,450
Water Treatment and Distnbubon $3.166.625 $3,170,920 $0 $3.170,920 $4,205
Sewage Collection ang Disposal $4,607,080 $4,718,460 $0 $4.718,460 $111,380
|Muricipal Airgort $1.134,980 $1,279,210 $0 $1,278.210 $144,220
Emergency Management $26,000 $25,000 $0 $25,000 $0
Capital $11,595,000 $10,223,320 $1,700,000 $11,823,320 $328,320

Total  $50952.125 $50.647 280 £1.700.00Q $62.347.280 $1.395.155

Expenditure Type

Personnel Services $20.067.645 $20,694,180 $63,300 $20,757.480 $689,835
Contraclual Services $16,534,415 $15,953,880 $1,722,315 $17,676,295 $1,141,880
Materials and Supplies $3,267,955 $3.379,780 (889,940) $3.289,840 $21,885
Property $1,351,760 $987.700 ($2.000) $985,700 ($366 060)
Debt Service $6,379,410 $5,989,420 $0 $5.988,420 ($389 390)
Inledund Transfers $3.350,940 33,642,220 $6,325 $3,648,545 $297,605

Total  $30.952.1258 £50 647 2680 $1.700.000 $52.347.260 1398 155
Operation and Maintenance $29,626,775 $30,792,320 $0 $30,792,320 $1,159,220
Debt Service $6,378,410 $5,989,420 30 $5,989,420 ($389.990)
Interfund Transfers $3,350,940 $3,642,220 30 $3.642,220 $297.605
Capital $11.595,000 $1N.223,320 $1,700,000 $11.923,320 $328,320

Total  $50.952.125 $50,647,280 $.1.700,000 $52.347.280 $1.395.159
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° The 2016 City Budget provides estimated revenuves of $51,158,530, an increase of $2,041,190, or
4.2%, from 20185.

° The general fund makes up 53.9% of total revenucs; capital improvements fund 23.3%; sewage
collection and disposal 9.7%; water treatment and distribution fund 5.9%; solid waste disposal fund 5.5%;
municipal airport fund 2.0%; and emergency management fund 0.0%.

° I'mal applied spendable fund balance is $1,188,750, a decrease of <$646,035>, or <35.2%>, from
2015
° The 2016 Capital Budget of $11,923,320 is comprised of thirteen (13) projects — of which five (5) will

be financed fully, or partially, through the issuance of long-term debt (general obligation or through the State
Revolving Fund).

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed o provide a general overview of the finances of the City of Lebanon.
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report, or requests for additional information,
should be addressed to the Finance Director, City Hall, S1 North Park Street, Lebanon, New [Hampshire 03766.



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



EXHIBIT A
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Sratement of Net Position
December 31, 2015

Governmental

Business-type

Activilies Activities Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,071,611 $ 11,709,614 $ 30,781,225
Investments 1,252,176 7,758,624 9,010,800
Receivables, net of allowance for oncollectible:
Accounts 266,420 1,150,397 1,416,817
Taxes 2,026,409 - 2,026,409
Intergovernmental 512,874 3,251,606 3,764,480
Iniernal balances 919,175 919,175) -
Prepaid items 155,077 40,313 195,450
l'ax deeded propeny, subject to resale 48,954 - 48,954
Restricted assets:
Cash ang cash equivalents 1,401,921 - 1,401,921
Investments 35,532 - 35,532
Intergovernmental receivable 15,618 - 15,618
Capital assels
Land and construction in progress 19,836,922 20,887,369 40,724,291
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 67,628,801 62,398,266 130,027,067
Total assets 113.171,590 106,277,004 219,448,604
DEFERRED OUTII.OWS OF RESOURCES
Amounts related 10 pensions 1,012,507 114,496 1,127,003
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 767,084 625,057 1,392,141
Cantracls payablc 574,473 1,577,369 2,151,842
Relainagc payable 124,788 895,113 1.019,903
Accrued interest payable 440,920 384,126 825,046
Intergovernmental payable 15,235,348 18,848,279 34,083,627
Escrow and performance deposils 77,250 9,100 86,350
Other 733,356 - 733.356
Long-term liubilities:
Due within one year 2,556,659 1,739,008 4,295.667
Due in rmore than one year 25,209,514 29,137,947 54,347,461
Net pension liability 18,514,202 2,093,613 20,607,815
Total habilives 64,233,594 55.309,614 119,543,208
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Debt forgiveness 1,288,966 1,933,448 3222414
Amounts related to pensions 1,562,565 176,697 1,739.262
Total deferred inflows of resources 2,851,531 2,110,145 4,961,676
NET POSITION
Nel investmunt in capital assets 62,352,232 61,215,149 123,567.381
Restricted 1,263,311 2.100,337 3,363,648
Lnrestricted (16,516,571) (14,343,735) (30,860,306)
Total net position § 47.008,972 $ 48,971,751 S 96,070,723

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this staiement.
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EXHIBIT C-]
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
December 31, 2015

Other Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
General Improvements Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17914344 $ 109,193 $ 1,048,074 $ 19071611
Investments - - 1,252,176 1,252,176
RReceivables, net of allowances for uncollectable:
Accounts 254,756 - 11,664 266,420
Taxes 2,224.313 - - 2,224,313
Intergovermmenial - 308,466 - 308,466
Interfund receivable 963,053 - 8,459 971,512
Voluntary lax liens 33,150 - - 33,150
Voluntary tax liens reserved vntil collecied (33,150) - - (33,150)
Prepaid items 155,177 - - 155,177
Tax deeded property, subject 10 resale 48,954 - - 48,954
Restricled assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,401,921 - - 1,401,921
Investments 35.532 - - 35,532
Intergovernmental receivable 15,618 - - 15,618
Tolal assers $ 23,013,668 $ 417,659 $ 2,320,373 $ 25,751,700
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 766,662 $ - $ 422 $ 767,084
Contracls payable - 574,473 - 574,473
Intergovermnmental 12,838,306 2,397,042 - 15,235,348
Interfund payable 7,743 - 44,594 52,337
Retainage payable - (24,788 - 124,788
Escrow and performance deposits 77,250 - - 77,250
Unearned revenue 733,356 - 733,356
Total habilities 14,423,317 3,096,303 43,016 17,564,636
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue - Property (axes 585,630 - - 585,630
FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT)
Nonspendable 204,131 - 1,263,311 1,467,442
Restricted - - 140,132 140,132
Commiiled 275,715 - 869,635 1,145,350
Assigned 1,411,403 - 2,279 1,413,682
Unassigned 6,113,472 (2.678.644) - 3.434,828
Total fund balances (deficit) 8,004,721 (2,678,644) 2,275.357 7,601,434
Total habilitics, defecred inflows
of resovrces, and fund balances $ 23,013,668 $ 417,659 S 2,320.373 $ 25,751,700

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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EXBIBIT C-2
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 1o the Stutement of Net Position
December 31, 2015

Total fund balances of governmental funds (Exlmbit C-1)

Amounts reported for govermmental activities in the Statement of Nel

Position are difterent because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources,

thereflore, are nol reported in the funds.
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation

l.ong term revenue (taxes) is not available to pay curreni-period expenditures

and, therefare, is deferred in the governmental funds.

Allowance for uncollectible property taxes that 1s recognized on a full accrual basis,

bot not on 1he modified accroal basis.

L.ong term assets (State aid receivable) are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore, are not reported 1n the governmenial funds.

Certain items are not current financial resources in the governmental fonds, but

instead are reported in the Statement of Net Position.

Deferred outflows of resources related 1o pensions
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

Deferred inflows of resources related to debt forgiveness that will be recognized
annually in equal amounts for the duration of the bond issvance repayment.

Interest on long-term debl is not accrued in governmental funds.
Accrued interest payable

Long-term liabilities are aot due and payable in the current penod,

therefore, are not reported in the funds.
Bonds
Unamortized bond premiums
Capital leases
Compensaled absences
Other poastiemployment benefits
Net pension liabiliy

Net position of governmental activitiecs (Exhibit A)

$

$ 118424113
(30,958,390)
b 1.012,507

(1,562.565)

24,148,280
644,716
320,495

1,372,574
1,280,108

18,514,202

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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7,601,434

87,465,723

585,630

(197.,504)

204,408

(550,058)

(1,288,966)

(440,920)

(46,280,375)
47,098,972



EXHIBIT C-3

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Governmental Funds

Starement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balunces
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013

Other Total
Capna) Governmental Governmental
Generca) Improvements Funds Funds
REVENUES
Taxes $ 19,336,103 $ - $ 22,838 $ 19,358,541
Licenses and permits 2,752,103 - - 2,752,103
Intergovernmental 1,399,933 1,776,369 - 3,176,302
Charges for services 1,247,323 - 231,937 1,479,260
Miscellaneous 637,069 5,104 106,047 748,220
Tolal revenues 25,372,531 1,781,473 360,822 27,514,826
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 5,436,699 - 20,999 5,457,698
Public safety 10,400,458 - 267,730 10,668,188
[lighways and streets 3,227,131 - - 3,227,131
Water distribution and treaiment 6.916 - - 6,916
Welfare 432,536 - - 432,534
Culture and recreation 2,234,685 - 87,436 2,322,121
Conservalion 8,193 - 65,226 73,419
Debt service:
Principal 2411483 - - 2,411,483
Inierest 1,173,606 - - 1,173,606
Capital ouilay 241,067 7,173,408 - 7,414,475
Total expenditures 25.572,774 7,173,408 441.391 33,187,573
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (200,243) (5,391,935) (80,569) (5,672,747}
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1.497,382 523,384 8,459 2,429,225
Transfers out (659,450) (1,036,709) (16,631) (1,712,790)
Capital |eases 389,215 - - 389.215
Total other financing sources (uses) 1,227,147 (113.325) (8,172) 1,105,650
Net change in fund balances 1,026,904 (5,505,260) (88,741) (4,567,097)
Fund balances, beginning 6,977,817 2,826,616 2,364,098 12,168,531
Fund balances (deficit), ending $  8,004.721 $ (2.678.644y § 2,275357 $ 7,601,434

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement,

19



EXHIBIT C-4

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Reconcilimtion of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures. and
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 1o the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscol Year Ended December 31, 2015

Net change in fund balances of governmenta) funds (Exhibit C-3)

Amounts reporied for governmental aclivities (n the Statement of Aclivities
are different because

Govermnmental funds report capital ootlays as expenditues. In the Statement
of Aclivilies, ihe cost of those assets is allocated over their estmated
useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amownt by which
capitalized capital outlay exceeded depreciation expense and capital asset
disposals in (he corrent penod,

Capitalized capital outlay

Capital asset disposals

Depreciation expense

Governmental funds report pension contcibutions as expenditiires. However, in
the Statement of Aclivities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee

contribulions is reported as pension expenses.
Increasc in contributions subsequent to 1the measurement date
Decrease in changes in proportion

Increase in differences between projecied and actual experience
Decrease in nel difference between projecied and actual invesiment

earnings oh pension plan invesiments
Increase in net pension hability

Revenue in the Statement of Activitics that does not provide current financial

resovrces is not reported as revenue in the govermmenial funds.
Change in deferred tax revenue
Change in allowance for uncollectible property 1axes
Decrease in defesred aid revenuve

The issuance of long-term deblt provides current financial resources to govemment(al

funds, while the repayment of puncipal of lang-tenin debt consumes the
currem financial resources of governmental funds Neither transaction,
however, has any effect on net position

Capital lease inception

Repayment of bond principal

Repayment of capital Jenses

Amortization of bond premium

Some expenses reporied in the Statement of Activitics do not require the
use of current financial resources, and therefore, arc not reported as
expenditures 1n governmental unds.

Increase in accrued inleresl expense

Increase in conipensated absences payable

Increase in postemployment benefits payable

Change in nel position of governmental activities (Exhibin B)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an
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3 (4,367.097)

14,157,331
(3,304,386)

(2,091,631)

8,801,314

82,930
332,505
(406,276)

1,728,981

(1,134,136)

604,004

(10.935)
1,715
57,479
48,259

(389,215)
2,411,483
132,913
56,012
2,211,193

(49,336)
(148,737)

(82,794)

(280,867)
56816806

integral pan of this statement,



EXHIBIT D

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

Genernd Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013

REVENUES
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Miscellaneous
Toral revenucs

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Gencral government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Welfare
Culiture and recreation
Conservation

Debt service
Principal
lnterest

Total expendstures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over {under) expendilures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Toltal other financing sources (vses)

Net change in fund balance

Increase in nonspendable fund balance
Decrease in assigned for abatement contingency
Unassigned fund balance, beginning
Unassigned fund balance, ending

Vanance
Budgeled Amounts Positive
Origina! Final Actual (Negalive)
$ 19,872,139 $ 19,872,139 $ 19,326,883 $  (545.256)
2,474,060 2,474,060 2,752,103 278,043
1,044,530 1,044,530 1,050,672 6,142
1,076,140 1,076,140 1,247,323 171,183
149,500 149,500 380,157 230,657
24,616,369 24,616,369 24,757,138 140,769
5,957,140 5,975,870 5,375,738 600,132
10,673,590 10,676,600 9,939,137 737,463
3,574,700 3,552,960 3,207,124 345,836
445,150 445150 432,536 12,614
2,197,900 2,197,900 2,128,976 68,924
9,280 9,280 8,193 1,087
2,411,500 2,411,500 2,411,483 17
1,173,690 1,173,690 1,173,606 84
26,442,950 26,442,950 24,676,793 1,766,157
(1,826,581) (1,826,581) 80,345 1,906,926
1,500,220 1,500,220 1.497,382 (2.838)
(723,190) (723.190) (729,450) (6,260)
777.030 777.020 767.932 {9,098)
$ (1,049551) $  (1,049.551) 848277 § 1,897,828
(31,177) )
2,156
5,681,942
$ 6,501,198

The notes to the basic financial statemcnts are an integral part of 1his statement.
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EXHIBIT E-1
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Proprietary Fund
Starement of Net Position
December 3], 2015

Business-lype Activities

Major Funds

Sewage Sohd Water Total
Collection Waste Treatment and Municipa) Entesprise
and Dispos:il Disposal Distribotion Airport Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cush equivalents $ 3,799,286 $ 4,789,025 $ 2,946,484 $ 174819 S 11,709,614
Invesiments 74,942 7,583,736 99,946 - 7,758,624
Receivables:
Accounts 230,664 450,697 64,294 404,742 1,150.397
Intergovernmental 2,123,353 89,792 199,685 838,776 3,251,606
Prepad items 10,031 5,902 11,626 12,754 40,313
Capital assels
Land and construclion in progress 18,125,707 9,254 1,268,204 1,480,204 20,887,369
Other capilal assets, net of depreciation 29,370,323 11,044,522 15,567,096 6.416,325 62,398.266
Total asseis 53,738,306 23,972,928 20,157,335 9,327,620 107,196,189
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Amounts related to pensions 40,394 28,081 31,161 14,860 114.496
LIABILITIES
Current liabihties:
Accounis payable 56,942 69,584 21,486 477,045 625,057
Contracl payable 1,277,214 - 300,155 - 1,577,369
Retainage payable 741,306 - 128,801 25,008 895115
Internal balances - - -~ 919,175 919,175
Accrued interest payable 188,163 49,621 132,548 13,794 384,126
Inlergovernmental payable 16,973,669 - 1,874,610 - 18,848.279
Escrow and performance deposils - - 9,100 0.100
Loag-term liabilities:
Due within one year 785,699 329,585 556,046 67,678 1,739,008
Due in more than one year 10,402,751 10,850,345 7,083,768 301,083 29.137.947
Net pension liability 738,632 513,468 569,790 271,723 2,093,613
Total liabihties 31,164,376 11,812,603 10,667,204 2,584,606 56,228,789
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Debt forgiveness 966,724 - 066,724 - 1,933,448
Amounts relaied 1o pensions 62,339 43,336 48,089 22,933 176.697
Tolal deferred inflows of resources 1,029,063 43,336 1,014,813 22,933 2,110,145
NET POSITION
Nect investment in capital assets 36,501,464 8,199,816 9,392,736 7,121,133 61,215,149
Restricled - 542,503 1,443,253 114,581 2,100,337
Unrestricted (14,916,203) 3,402,751 (2,329,510) (500,773) (14.343.735)
Total nel position $§ 21,585,261 $ 12,145,070 § 8,506,479 $ 6,734,941 $ 48,971,731

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statemenit.
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EXHIBIT E-2

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Proprietary Fund

Stnrement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position
Forthe Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Opeiating revenues:
User charges
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages
Operation and maintenance
Depreciation and amertivition
Total operating expenses

Operating gain (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense):

Interest income
Intergovernmental revenues
Sale of Csty owned propeny
Interest expense

Tolal nonoperating revenues

Other finan¢ing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Transfers oul

Total other financing sources (uses)

Change in net position

Nct position, beginning, as restated (see Note 20)

Net position, ending

‘I'he notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Business-lype Activities

Major Funds
Sewage Sohid Water Tota)
Colleciion Waste Treatment and Municipal Cnlerprise
and Disposal Disposal Distribution Airpon Funds

§ 4747581 $ 3.098,625 $ 2,719,763 $ 532341 $ 11098310
110,336 143,739 19,744 345,564 619,383
4,857,917 3,242.364 2,739.507 377.905 11,717,693
957,777 751,615 740,030 446,930 2.896,352
1.862,086 825,561 2,481,699 988,489 6,157,835
739,633 546,679 567,360 571,485 2,425,157
3,559,496 2,123,855 3,789,089 2,006.904 11,479,344
1,298,421 1,118,509 {1,049,582) (1,128,999) 238,349
3,618 40,625 5,763 101 50.107

62,963 - 54.474 1,165,408 1,282.845

2,500 69,000 . - 71,500
(475,897) (97,989) {325,060) (40,204) (939,150)
(406,816) 11,636 (264,823) 1,125,305 465.302
152,201 921,696 315,920 440,929 1.830,746
(430,148) (1.668.496) (398,627) (49,910) (2,547,181}
(277,947) {746,800) (82,707) 391.019 (716.435)
613,658 383.345 (1,397.112) 387,325 (12.784)
20,971,603 11,761,725 9.903,59! 6,347,616 48,984,535
_$ 21,585,261 $ 12,145,070 $ 8,506,479 § 6,734,941 § 48.971.751
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EXHIBIT E-3

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Proprietary Fund
Sratement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005

Cash flows {ron operating activitics:
Receipts from customers and users
Paymenis to employees and suppliers
Nel cash provided (used) by operating activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activitics:
Principal paid on bonds
Sale of City owned property
Acquisition and constroction of fixed assets
Payments from the siale
[merest paid
Net cash uvsed by capital and velated financing activities

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Operating wransfers in (oot)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Sale of investments
Interest received
Net cash used by investing activities

WNet increase {detrease) in cash
Cash, beginning
Cash, ending

Operating gain (loss)

Business-type Activities

Adjusiments o reconcile operating gain (loss) 1o net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation expense
(Increase) / Decreuse in olher receivables
(Increase) / Decrease in prepaid expenses
(Increase) / Decrease in deferred outflows of resources
Increase / (Dettease) in accouots payable
Increase / (Decrease) in conlricl payable
Increasc / (Decrease) n retainage payable
Increase / (Decrease) in mieraal balances
Decrease in accrued interest payable
Increase in intergovernmental payables
Increase i escrow deposits
Increuse / (Decrease) in compensated absences
Increase in Jand§ill liability
Incrcase in other postemployment benefits payable
Increase in net pension lablity
Increase / (Decrease) in deferred inflows of resources
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by (used 1n) operaung activities

Major kFunds
Sewage Solid Water Tolal
Collectioa Wasie “I'reatment and Municipal Enlerprise
and Disposal Disposal Distribuvon Alrpori Funds
S 4,653,821 § 3,089,483 § 2489795 S (274179 S 9,958,920
4,759,866 (1,701,757) (1,035,776) (213,947) 1,808,386
9,413,687 1,387,726 1,454,019 (488,126) 11,767,306
(753,190) (320,000) (703,772) (66,579) (1,843,541)
2,500 69,000 - - 71,500
(8,090,560) (720,657) (715,156) (1,103.178) (10,629,551)
62,963 - 54,474 1,165,408 1,282,845
(475,897) (97,989) (325,060} (40.204) (939,150)
{(9,254,184) (1,069,646) (1.689,514) (44.553) (12,057.897)
(277,947) {746,800) (82,707) 391,019 (716,435)
1,057,283 646,953 8,245 - 1,712.481
3,618 40,625 3,763 101 50,107
1,060,901 687,578 14,008 101 1,762,588
942,457 258,858 (304,194) (141,559) 755,562
2,856,829 4,530,167 3,250,678 316378 10.954,052
§ 3,799,286 § 4,789.025 % 2,946,484 % 174,819 § 11,709,614
Reconciliation of Operating Gain / (Loss) 1o Net Cush Provided by Operating Activities
§ 1,298,421 ¢ 1118509 § (1.049,582) § (1,128999) § 238,349
739,633 546,679 567,360 571,485 2.425.157
(318,979) (172,794) (263,979) (1,151.837) (1,907,289)
114,883 19,913 14,267 (1,447 147,616
(9,258) (6,437) (7,143} (3.406) (26,244)
16,338 19,716 (7,168) 457,157 486.043
(106.001) (278.133) 123,021 - (261,113)
(177) - 47,83) 25.008 72.662
- - - 736.791 736.791
21,551 5,464 14,871 1,546 43,432
6,695,374 - 1,054,169 - 7.749,543
- - - 900 200
2,777 (10,866) (5,676) 4,147 (9.618)
- 152,673 - - 152.673
7.239 3,318 10,770 5.688 27.015
45,247 31,453 34.904 16.645 128.249
906,639 {(41,765) 920,374 (22,104) 1.763.140
8115266 269,217 2,503.601 640.873 11.528 957
§ 9413687 § 1387726 § 1454019 S (488,126) § 11.767.306

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this slatement,
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EXHIBITF
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Fiducinry Fund
Srarement of Net Position
December 31, 2015
Agency

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 910.260

Investments 3,791,632
‘T'olal assets § 4,701,892
LIABILITIES

Due to others $ 3,156

Intergovernmental payable 4,698,736
Total liabilities § 4,701,892

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
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Statement of Cash FIoWS ..........cccoecivinineane
Restricted ASSEIS.ccvirniieiirivi cevmriericnc e
INVESELINENS ...ciiirireecreiecie e
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Interfund Balances and Transfers..............

Inlergovernmental Payables...........c...........

Deferred OQUtIloWs/INTIOWS Of RESOUICES .....ov it coiieetritis o sreeeeeiescorm e et es e e te s eeseeestereeseaas e e raeesaee st en s mesee s emtnnesasrnreeean

Construction Commitments .......... ene s ansens

Long-term Liabilities ... e e et et e b b g et e

Lease Obligations ..o,

| O T T 1Y (T 1 o Lo ST T OO SRS ETRR SRR

State Aid to Water Pollution Projects.........

Governmental and Business-type Activities Net POSItION ... i

Governmental Fund Balances.....c...............

10

12
)3
14
15
16
17
18



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Prior Period AQJUSEIENES ... ...t e et e e et s et bbb e n e it seh et e saeaeaen e reesreont
Deficit FUNTG BAIATECES ...ooiuii ittt s et e eee e ee et nr bt e e ehe s se 2 nte e e s2e k€ aaa e ee bt £ een Heb e se b b ShE s e s b st s neen e e a7 en s ehe et poans
Defined Benefit Pension PLAN ... s et e e et e b s IOTUURUTURUURUITRPR
Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) .......ccccc.coooinncnincrninncnnenns

RUSK IVIATIAZEIMIEIIT ..o et iteet e et eeete ettt e n s e eehem e et es e b s e se b s e e e d e £ 4a e 42 e st et eRe s bt 1o n b et n e s 2 eesere s ne b enns
Cafeteria Bt PIOM ... iyt e et e ekt et b se s es e a6 ee etk e et ek ce st eaeerere i
COTEIMEEIICIES ... oo oeeeei et et et st ettt et e st et aaabt e e s as e s 12t e e e seem s an e b e s en e oe b £t 2 e 2ad s o8 ok €abt £ e eanens e aen o bes e hecn o e b en e e nre e

SUIDSCQUETE VRIS ..ot et e et e et e easiaees e seeee e e ot daan b s b e s b e s ex e s eae e 1o 28 eat e e s es e ee et £ e e e s enee noeeEe b e nre e

27



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE | —SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the City of |.ebanon, New Hampshire (the City), have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America for governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental
Accountjng Standards Board (GASB) and other authoritative sources.

The more significant of the City's accounting policics are described below.

1-A Reporting Entity

The City of Lebanon is a municipal corporation governed by an elected City Council. In evaluating how to define the City for
financial reporting purposes, management has considered all potential component units. The decision to inctude a potential
component unit in the reporting entity is made by applying the criteria set forth by the GASB. The City has no component units
to include in its reporting entity.

1-B Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financia) statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) report information
on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been
removed from these statements. Governmental actvities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The Statement of Net Position presents the financial position of the governmental activities and business-type activities of the
City at year-end. '[his statement includes all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and net position.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of 4 given function or segment s offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenses
include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided
by a given function or segment and (2) grants and confributions that are restricied to meeting the operational or capital
requircments of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among prograin revenucs arc
reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter
are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual
enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be
spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

1-C Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statemients are reported using the economic resources meusurement focus and the accrual basis
of accounting, as are the proprietary fond and fiduciary fund financial statements, except for agency funds which do not have a
measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when liability is incurred, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows, Properly taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar
ilems are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements arc reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues arc
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough therealier to pay habilities of the
current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collecied within 60 days of the
end of the current fiscal peviod. except for State shared revenue, reimbursement-based grants and interest which use one year,
Lxpenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgimenis, are recorded only when
payment is due. Property taxes, licenses and permits, intergovernmental revenue, and interest associated with the current fiscal
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so bave been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All
other revenue jtems ure considered to be measurable and available only when cash \s received by the government.
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Proprielary funds distinguish operating revenues and cxpenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result [rom providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the enterprise fund are charges for services. Operating expenses for the
enterprise funds include depreciation on capital assets, labor, supplies, and contracted services. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the
accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the year in which the rescurces
are measbrable angd become available.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City reccives value without direcily giving equal value in retorn, include property taxes,
grants, entitlement, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the year for which the tax
is levied. Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have
been satisfied. FHligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to
be used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the City must provide local resources to be vsed
for a specific purpose, and expenditure requirements, m which the resources are provided 1o the City on a reimbursement basis.
On a modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
Awerica requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets, deferred
inflows/outflows, and liabilities at the date of the financial stalements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actval results could differ from those estimates.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund — all general revenues and other receipts that are not allocated by law ot contracted agreement to ancther
(und are accounted for in this fund. This fund accounts for general operating expenditures, fixed charges, and the capital
improvement costs that are not reported in other funds.

Capita) Improvements Fund  the capilal improvements fund accounts for the activity peraining to the multiple
construction and renovation projects the City is currently involved with.

Al the governmental funds not meeting the criteria established for major funds are presented in the other governmental column
of the fund financial statements.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

Sewage Collection and Disposal Fund - accounts for the operation of the sewer treatment plant, pumping station, and
sewer lines in the City.

Solid Waste Disposal Fund - accounts for the operation of the City transfer station and Jandfills.

Water Treatment and Distribution Fund — accounts for the operation of the water treatment plant, wells, and water
system.

Municipal Airport Fund — accounts for the operation of the Lebanon Municipal Airpon.
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:

Special Revenue Funds - are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Permanent Fund - js used to record activity of Jegal trusts for which the interest on the corpus provides funds for the City’s
cemetery operations.

Fiduciury Funds — The City also reports the following fiduciary fund type:

Agency Fund — is used to account for assets held in a trusiee or agency capacity on behalf of outside parties, including other
governments.
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1-D Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City counsiders all highly liquid investments with an original maiurity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Deposits with financial institutions consist primarily of demand deposits, certificates of deposits, and savings accounts. A cash
pool is maintained that is available for use by all funds. Each fund’s portion of this pool is reflected on the combined financial
statements under the caption “cash and cash equivalents.”

The treasurcr is required to deposit such moneys in solvent banks in state or the Public Deposit Investiment Pool pursuant to New
Hampshire RSA 383:22. Funds may be deposited in banks outside of the state if such banks pledge and deliver to a third party
custodial bank or the Federal Reserve Bank, collateral security for such deposits, U'nited States government or government
agency obligations or abligations to the State of New llampshire in value at least equal to the amount of the deposit in each case.

1-E Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a
maturity when purchased of three months or less and all local government invesiment pools to be cash equivalents.

1-F Restricted Assels

Certain cash, investment, and intergovernmental receivable balances are classified as vestricted assets on the balance sheet
because their use is designated for a specific purpose and therefore not available for immediate and general use by the City.,

1-G Investments
State statutes place certain limiiations on the nature of deposits and investments available as follows:

New Hampshire law authorizes the City to invest in the following type of obligations:
+  Obligations of the United States government,
The public deposit investment pool established pursuant {0 RSA 383:22,
+  Savings bank deposits,
«  Certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements of banks incorporated under the laws of the State of New
Hampshirc or in banks recognized by the State treasurer,

Any person who directly or indirectly receives any such funds or moneys for deposit or for investment in securities of any kind
shall, prior to acceptance of such funds, make available at the time of such deposit or investment an option to have such funds
secured by collateral having a value at least equal to the amount of such funds. Such collateral shall be segregated for the
exclusive benefit of the City. Only securities defined by the bank commissioner as provided by rules adopted pursuant to
RSA 386:57 shall be eligible to be pledged as collateral.

Investments for the City are reported at fair value generally based on quoted market prices.

1-H Receivables

Receivables recorded i the financial statements represent amounts due to the City at Decembey 31, They are aggregated into a
single accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectibles) line for certain funds and aggregated columns. They consist
primarily of taxes, billing for charges, and other user fees.

1-I Interfund Balances

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may vesult in amounts owed between
funds. Short-term interfund loans are reportcd as “interfund receivables and payables,” Interfund receivables and payables
between funds are climinated in the Statement of Net Position.

1-J Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting peciods and are recorded as prepaijd items in both
government-wide and fund financial siatements, and expenses as the itens are used.
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I-K Capital Assets

Capita) assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar
items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial
statements.

Capital assets arc defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,000 and an estimated minimum
useful life in excess of one year. As the City constructs or acquires additional capital assets each year, they are capitalized and
reported at historical cost. The reported value excludes normal maintenance and repairs which are cssentially amounts spent in
relation 1o capital assets that do not incrcase the capacity or efficiency of the item or increase its estimated useful life. Donated
capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.

l.and and construction in progress are not depreciated. The other property, plant, and equipment of the City are depreciated
using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Capital Asset Classes:
Land improvements 20-30
Buildings and building improvements 20-30
Machinery and equipment 3-25
Infrastructure 50

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmeutal fund operations are accounted for as capital outlay
expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets are not capitalized and related depreciation is not
reported in the fund financial statements.

1-L Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.
‘T'hjs separale financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applics to
a furure period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenses/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position and Balance Sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

1-M Property Taxes

Property tax billings occur semi-annually and are based on the assessed inventory values as of April | of each year. Warrants for
the year were issued on May 13 and October 30, and due on July | and Dcceinber 3, respectively. Interest accrues at a rate of
12% on bills outstanding after the due date and 18% on tax liens outstanding.

In connection with the setting of the tax ratc, City officials with the approval of the Department of Revenue Administration,
cstablish and raise through taxation an amount for tax abatement and refunds, known as overlay. This amount is reported as a
reduction In tax revenuc and is adjusied by management for any reserve for uncollectable at year end. The property taxes
collected by the City include taxes levied for the State of New Hampshire, Lebanon School District, and Grafton County, which
are remitted to these entities as requived by law.

The City net assessed valuation as of April I, 2015 utilized in the setting of the tax rate was as follows:

For the New Hampshire education tax $ 1,792.711.074
For all other (axes $ 1.876,001,874
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T'he tax rates and amounts assessed for the year ended December 31, 2015 were as follows:

Per $1,000 Propernty
of Assessed Taxes
Valuation Assessed
Municipal portion $10.04 $ 18,825,782
Schoo) porljon:
Stale of New llampshire $2.53 4,543,496
l.ocal $13.31 24,970,510
County pofstion $1.73 3.245,898
Total $276)  _§ 51,585,686

I-N Compensated Absences

Vacation - The City’s policy allows certain employees to earn varying amounts of vacation based on the employec’s length of
employment. Upon separation from service, cmployees are paid in full for any accrued leave earned as set forth by personnel
policy or collective bargaining agrccment. The liability for such leave is reported as incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements. A lLability for those amounts is recorded in the governmental funds only if the liability has
matured as a result of employee resignations or retirements.

Sick Leave — Benefits are accrued as a liability using the termination payment meihod. An accrual for eamed sick Jeave is made
to the extent that it is probable that the benefits will result in termination payments. The liability is based on the City’s
experience of making termination payments.

1-0 Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide {inancijal statements and proprietary fund types. long-terin debt and other long-term obligations are
reported as liabilities. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium.

In the fund financial staterents, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums during the carrent period. The face amount
of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources.

I-P Claims and Judgments

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
pronouncements are met. Claims and judgments that would normally be liquidated with expendable available financial resources
are recorded during the year as expenditures in the governmental tunds. Claims and judgments are recorded in the government-
wide financial statements as expense when the related liabilities are incurred  There were no significant claims or judgments at
year-end.

1-Q Interfund Activities

Interfund activities are reported as follows:

Interfund Receivables and Payables - Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year ayc referred to as “due 1o/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between
the governmental activities and business activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal
balances.” Interfund receivables and payables between funds are eliminated in the Statement of Net Position.

Interfund Transfers — Interfund transfers represent flows of asscts without equivalent flows of assets in return and without a
requirement for repayment. In governmental funds, transfers are reported as other financing uses in the funds making the
wransfers and other financing sources in the funds receiving the transfers. In proprietary (unds, transfers are reported after
nonoperating revenues and expenses. In the government-wide financial stalements, all interfund iransfers between individual
governmental funds have been eliminated.
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I-R Net Position/Fund Balance Reporting
Government-wide Statements — Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a) Net investmenl in capital assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds or other borrowings that are altribmable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the debt
attributable to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets.

b) Restricted net position — Consists of net position with constrainis placed on use either by (1) external groups such as
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional
provisions or enabling Jegislation.

c) Unrestricted net position — All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in
capital assets.”

Fund Balance Clussifications - The fund balance of governmental funds is reported in five categories based on the nature of any
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific programs. The City itself can establish limitations on the use of resources
through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund balance). The classifications used in the
City’s governmental fund fipancial statements are as follows:

Nonspendable — This classification includes anmounts thar cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable
form; or (b) are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted — This classification includes amounts for which constrainis have been placed on the use of the resources
either (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through a debt covenant), grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or cniabling legislation.

Committed — This classification includes amounls that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a vote
of the City Council. These amounts cannot be ased for any other purpose unless the legislative body removes or
changes the specified use by taking the sanme iype of action that was employed when the funds were initially committed.

Assigned — This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be used for a specific
purpose but are neither restricted nor commitied.

Unassigned — This classification includes the residual fund balance for the general fund. The vnassigned classification
also includes negative residual fund balance of any other governmental fungd that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of
assigned fund balance amounts,

When multiple net pasition/fund balance classifications are available for use, it is the City’s policy to utilize the most restricted
balances first, then the next most restricted balance as needed. When components of anrestricted fund balance are vsed,
commilied fund balance is depleted first followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

It is the goal of the City to maintain an unassigned fund balance of 15% to 17% of current general fund budgeted expenditure
activity. The City considers a balance of less than 15% to be a cause for concem and, taking into account factors or
circumstances that may require a higher than normal maximuin level of unassigned fund balance, a balance of more than 17% as
excessive. An amount in excess of 15% may be considercd 10 reduce 1ax levy requirements determined in conjunction with the
annua} budget process, as a capital improvement funding componen, for reservation to accumulate funding for future capital
improvements, or for any legal purpose deemed appropriate and desirable by the City Council. In the event unassigned fund
balance is less than 15%, restorative steps shall be taken in the immediate subsequent fiscal years,

1-S Defined Benefit Pension Plan

GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and
GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Dote requires participating
employers to recognize their proportionate share of collective ne( peasion hability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred
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inflows of resources, and pension expense, and schedules have been preparcd to provide employers with their caleulated
proportionate share of these amounts  The collective amounts have been allocated based on employer contributions during the
respective fiscal years. Contributions fromm employers are recognized when legally due, based on statutory requirements.

The schedules prepared by New Hampshire Retirement System, and audited by the plan’s independent auditors, require
manageiment to make a number of estumates and assumptions relating to the reported amounts. Due to the jnherent nature and
uncertainty of these estimates, actual resulis could differ, and the differences may be material.

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

2-A Budgetary Information

General governmental revenues and expenditures accounted for in budgetary funds are controlled by a formal integrated
budgetary accounting system in accordance with various Jegal requirements which govern the City’s operations. Annually, the
City Council, as the City’s legislative body, adopts a budget for the current year for the general, capital improvements, sewage
colleetion and disposal, solid waste disposal, water treatment and distribution, and municipal airport funds. tixcept as reconciled
below, the budget was adopted on a basis consistent with US generally accepted accounting principles.

Management may transfer appropriations between operating categories as deemed necessary, but expenditures may not legally
exceed budgeted appropriations in total. All annual appropriations lapse at year-end unless encumbered.

I'ncumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and continuing appropriations (certain projects and specific
items not fully expended at year-end) are recognized, is employed in the governmental funds. Encumbrances are not the
equivalent of expenditures, and are therefore, reported as part of the assigned fund balance at year-end, and are carried forward to
supplement appropriations of the subsequent year.

State statutes require balanced budgets, but provide for the use of beginning unassigned fund balance to achieve that end. For
the fiscal year 2015, §1,049,551 of the beginning general fund unassigned fund balance was applied for this purpose.

2-B Budgetary Reconciliation to GAAP Basis

The City employs certain accounting principles for budgetary reporting purposes that differ from a GAAP basjs. The Statemneut
of' Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budgetary Basis presents the actual results to provide a comparison
with the budget. The major difference beiween the budgetary basis and GAAP basis is as follows:

Encumbrances outstanding at year-end do nol represent GAAP expenditures or liabilities, but represent budgetary
accounting controls. Governmental fund budgets are maintained on the modified accrual basis of accounting except that
budgetary basis expenditures include purchase orders and commitments (encumbrances) for goods or services not
received at ycar-end. Encumbrances are recorded (o reserve a portion of fund balance in the governmental fund types
for commitments for which no hability exists,

‘The following reconciles the general fund budgetary basis to the GAAP basis:

Revenves and other financing sources: General
Per 1:xhibit D (budgetary bisis) $ 26,254,520
Adjustment:

Basis difference:
Inceplion of capital leases 389,215

GASB Siatement No. 54
To record revenue of the blended funds (exgendable trusts, grants,

energency management, heritage. resiricted, and CDBG funds) 606,173
Change in allowance for uncollectible property raxes, not recognized
on GAAP bass (1,715)
Change in deferced tax revenuc relaling 1o 60-day revenue recognition 10,935
Per Exhibit C-3 (GAAP basis) $ 27,259,128
(Continued)
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Budgetary reconciliation of the general fund budgetary basis to the GAAP basis continued:

Expenditures and other financing uses:

Per Exhibit D (budgetary basis) $ 25,406,243
Adjusiment;
Basis differences:
Encumbrances, beginning 409,061
Encumbrances, ending (457,357)
Inception of capital leascs 389,215

GASB Statement No. 54:
To record expenditures of the blended funds (expendable trusts, granis,

emergency management, heritage, restricted, and CDBG funds) 555,062
Net effect of eliminated and recognized transfers of the blended funds (70,000)
Per Exhibit C-3 (GAAP basis) $ 26,232,224

2-C Change in Accounting Principle

Effective January [, 2015, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions -
an amendment of GASB Statement No, 27. The requirements of this Statement change the way the City calculates and reports the
costs and obligations associated with pensions. As a result of implementing GASB Statement No. 68 the City has restated the
beginning net position in the government-wide Statement of Net Position, effectively decreasing net position as of Janvary 1,
2015 by $21,892,382 (see Note 20). The reduction accounts for the associated net position liability, deferred inflows of
resources, and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions.

Also, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement
Date — an amendment to GASB Statement No. 68. This Statement addresses and issue in Statement No. 68 concerning transition
provisions related to certain pension contributions made to defined benefit pension plans prior to implementation of that
Statement by employer and nonemployer contributing entities.

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS

NOTE 3 — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At December 31, 2015, the reported amount of the City’s depasits was $33,093,406 and the bank balance was $35,087,687. Of
the bank balance $31,730,525 was covered by federal depository insurance or by collatcral held by the City’s agent in the City’s
name, and $3,357,162 was uninsured and uncollateralized.

Cash and cash equivalents reconciliation:

Cash per Staternent of Net Position (Exhibit A) § 32,183,146
Cash per Statement of Net Position-Fiduciary }unds (Exhibit F) 910.260
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 33,093,406

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS

Note 1-G describes statutory requirements covering the investment of the City funds. The City maintaius a portfolio of
intermediate maturity investments that are reported at fair value, based on quoted market prices. The City's fiscal agent or
custodian provides the fair value of all intermediate maturity investments.
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At December 31, 2015, this City had the following investments and maturities:

Less Than 1
Fair Value Year 1-5 Years
Investment type:
Exchange-traded funds § 2,487,790 $ 2,487,790 s -
US Government obligalions 10,350.174 3,499,415 6,850,759
Total fair value $§ 12,837,564 $ 5,987,205 $ 6,850,759

Interest Rate Risk -- This is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates,

Credit Risk - State law limits investments as explained in Note 1-G. As of December 31, 2015, the City’s investments in US
Apgencies (Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, and Federal
National Mortgage Association) are rated AA+ by Standard and Poor’s and Aaa by Moody’s Investor’s Services.

Custodial Credit Risk — This is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. broker/dealcer) to honor a
transaction, the City will not be able te recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an

outside party.

Concentration of Credit Risk — The City places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one issuer. More than 5% of the
City's investments are in Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal National Mortgage Association, and TFederal Farm Credit Bank.
These investments are 35.76%, 26.81%, and 14.36%, respectively, of the City’s total investments.

Investment reconciliation:

Investiments per Statement of Net Position (Exhibit A)
Investments per Statement of Net Position-Fiduciary Funds (Exhibit IF)
Total investments

NOTE 5 — RESTRICTED ASSETS

$  9.046,332
1,791,632
$ 12,837,964

The following cash, investments, and accounts receivable are classified as restricted because of the statutory limitations placed

on their use as they are earmarked for a specific purpose:

Cash and cash equivalents:

General:
Expendable trust $ 207,514
Grants 727,292
Cmergency management 45411
erilage 4,706
Other restricted 416,998
Total general fund 1,401,921
Investments:
Expendable trust: 35,532
Intergovernmental receivable:
General:
Granis 15,618

Total resiricied assets $ 1.453,071
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AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 6 — TAXES RECEIVABLE

Taxes receivable represent the amount of current and prior year taxes which have not been collected as of December 31, 2015,
The amount has been reduced by an allowance for an estimated uncollectible amount of $197,904, which is removed on Exhibit
C-1 due to the deferral of taxes receivable not collected within 60 days of fiscal year-end. Taxes receivable by year are as
follows:
As reported on:
(Exhibit A) (Exhibit C-1)

Property:
Levy of 2015 $ 1,277,456 $ 1.277.456
Unredeemed (under 1ax lien):
Levy 0f 2014 301,239 301,239
Levy 0f 2013 191,780 191,780
Levy 0f 2012 90,428 90,428
Levies of 201} and prior 363,410 363,410
Less: allowance for estimated uncollectible taxes {(197,504) * -
Net taxes receivable § 2,026,409 $ 2224313

*The allowance for uncollectible property laxes is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting (Exhibit C-1 and C-3) duc to the 60 day rulc as
explained in Note 1-C. However., the atlowance Is recognized under the full accrual basis of accounting (Exhibits A and B).

NOTE 7 - OTHER RECEIVABLES

Receivables at December 31, 2015, consisted of accounts (billings for water, sewer, ambulance, and other user charges) and
intergovernmental amounts arising from grants. Receivables are recorded on the City's financial statements to the extent that the
amounts are determined to be material and substantiated not only by supporting documentation, but also by a reasonable,
systematic method of determining their existence, completeness, valuation, and collectability.

Receivables as of December 31, 2015 for the City’s individual major funds and nonmajor funds in the aggregate, including
applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Governmental funds:

General Capital Nonmajor
Fund Improvements Funds Total
Reccivables:

Accounts $ 345,600 3 - $ 11,664 $ 359445

[ntergovernmental - 308,466 - 308,466

Liens 33,150 - - 33,150

Gross reeeivables 378,750 308,466 11,664 701,061

Less: allowances for uncolleciibles (123,994) - - (123,994)

Net total receivables $ 254,756 $ 308,466 3 11,664 $ 577,067

Proprietary funds:
Sewage Solid Water
Collection Waste Treatment and Municipal
and Disposal Disposal Distribution Alrport Total
Receivables:

Accounts S 230,664 $ 450,697 $ 64,294 $ 404,742 $ 1,150,397
Intergovernmental 2,123,353 89,792 199,685 838,776 3,251,606
Total receivables § 2.354,017 $ 540,489 $ 263,979 $ 1,243,518 $ 4,402,003
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NOTE 8 - PREPAID ITEMS
Prepaid items at December 31, 2015 consisied of the following:

Governmental activities:
Major fund'
Gencral
Jnsurance $ 118,612
Other 36,565
Toral governmental activities $ 155177
Business-type activities:
Major funds:
Sewage collection and disposal:
Insurance $ 10,031
Sohd waste disposal:
Insurance 5,902
Water treatmem and gisiribution:
Insurance 11,626
Monicipal airport:
Insurance 12,754
Total business-type activities 40,313

Tolal prepaid ilems $ 195490

NOTE 9 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 consisted of the following:

BBalance,
beginning Balance.
(as restated) Additions Disposals ending
Governmental activitics:
At cost.
Not being depreciated:
Land S 7,216,472 S 62,793 h) - 5 7,279,265
Intanyible assets 82,197 - - 82,197
Caonslruction in progress 9,297,581 6,453,504 (3.275,625) 12,475,460
I'ota) capital assets not being depreciated 16,596,250 6,516,297 (3,275,625) 19,836,922
Being depreciated:
Land improvements 2,945,655 361,313 - 3,306,968
Buildings and building improvements 21,144,159 - - 21,144,159
Machinery and equipment 8,554,369 998,728 (286,134) 9,266.963
Infiasirociure 58,548,108 6,320,993 - 64,869,101
Total capial assels being depseciated 91,192,291 7,681.034 __ _(286.134) 98,587,101
Towal all capial assets 107,788,541 14,197,331 (3.561,759) 118,424,113
Less accomulated depreciation: _
Land improvements (1,646,062) (122,819) - (1,768.881)
Buildings aad building improvemens (6,292,232) (451,590) - (6.743,822)
Machinery and cquipmeni (4,792.094) (394.108) 257373 (4.928,829)
Infrasiructyre (16,393,744) (1.123,114) - (17,516.858)
Total accumulaied depreciation (25,124,132) (2,091,631) 257,373 (30,958,390)
Net book value. capital assets being depreciated 62,068.159 3.589.401 (28.761) 67,628,801
Net book value, all governmemal achvities capital assels $ 78,664,409 $ 12,1 05,700* $ (3,304,386) § 87.465.723

(Contimied)
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Capital assets continued-

Balance,
beginning Balance,
(as restaied) Additions Disposals ending
Business-type activitles:
At cost;
Not being depreciated:
Land § 616,500 $ - ;) - $ 616,500
Construction in progress 19,318,536 5,984,233 (5,031,900) 20,270,869
Total capital asscts not being depreciated 19,935,036 5,984,233 (5,031,900) 20,887,369
Being depreciated:
Land improvements 36,444 420 5,367,393 - 41,811,813
Buildings and building improvements 23,636,666 1,429,965 - 25,066,631
Machinery and equipment 6,348,793 720,088 (390,813) 6,678,068
Infrastructure 52,626,614 - - 52,626,614
Total capital asseis being depreciated 119,056,493 7,517,446 (390.813) 126,183,126
Total all capital assets 138,991,529 13,501,679 {5422.713) 147.070,495
Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements (27,600,715) (837,058) - (28,437,777)
Buildings angd building improvements (12,785,798) (266,858) - (13,052,656)
Machinery and equipment (3,991,385) (355,479) 325,803 (4,021,061)
Infrastructure (17,307,604) (965.762) - (18,273,360)
Total accumulated depreciation (61,685,506) (2,425,157) 325,803 (63,784,860)
Net book value, capital assets being depreciated 57,370,987 5,092,289 (65,010) 62,398,266
Net book value, all business-type activiiies capital assets $ 77,306,023 $ 11,076,522 $ (5,096910) § 83,285,635

Depreciation expense was charged ta functions of the City based on their usage of the related assets. The amounts allocated to

each function are as follows:

Governmental activities:

General government $ 1,783,908
Public safety 288,529
Conservation 19.194

Total governmental activities depreciation expense § 2,091,631

Business-type activitles:

Sewage collection and disposal $ 739,633
Solid waste disposal 546,679
Water treatment and distribution 567,360
Monicipal airport 571485

Total business-type activities depreciation cxpense § 2425157

NOTE 10— INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund Balances - The composition of interfund balances as of December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable FFund Amount
Genernl Nonmajor governmental § 43,878
Nonmajor governmental General 7,743
Nonmajor governmental Nonmajor governmental 716
General Major proprietary - Municipal airport 919,175
$ 971,512
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The outstanding balances among funds result mainlty from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are rccorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments
between funds are made.

Interfund Transfers - The composition of interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Transfers from Transters (o Cuinulative
Other Funds Other Funds Transfers
Mujor governmental fonds:
General $ 1.497,382 $ 659,450 837,932
Capital improveinents 923,384 1,036,709 (113,325)
Nonmajor governmental funds:
Permanen - 16,631 (16,631)
Publi¢ library 8,459 - 8,459
Total governmental funds 2,429,225 1,712,790 716,435
Major enterprise funds:
Municipa) airport 440,929 49,910 391,019
Scweage collection and disposal 152,201 430,148 (277,947)
Solid waste disposal 921,696 1,668,496 (746,800)
Waler treatmem and distribution 315920 398,627 (82,707)
Total enterprise funds 1,830,746 2,547,181 (716,435%)
Tota) $ 4,259,971 $ 4259971 $ -

During the year, transfers are vsed to (1) move revenues from the fund with collection authority to the fund responsible for
expenditure ang (2) move general fund resources to provide an annual subsidy.

NOTE 11 — INTERGOVERNMENTAL PAYABLES
Amounts due to other governments of $39,486,497 at December 31, 2015 consist of the following:

Governmental funds:

General:
Balance of 2015-2016 disiricl assessment due 10 the Lebanon School District S 12,836,792
Fees due 10 the Siate of New | lampshire 1.514
Total general fund 12,838,306
Capila) improvements:
State of New Hampshire - drawdown requests 2.397.042
Toral governmental tunds 15,235,348

Proprietary funds:
Sewage collection and disposal:

Stale of New Hampshire -~ drawdown requests 16,973,669
Water treatment and distribution;
S1ate of New ] lompshire - drawdown requesis 1,874,610
Towal proprietary fund 18.848,279
Agency funds:
Impaci fees held for other governments 130.174
Trust tunds held for the 1.ebanon School District 4.568.560
Tolal agency funds 4.698,736
Fotal intergovernmental payables $ 38,782,363
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NOTE 12 - DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of rescurces consist of the following:

Governmental activities:

Amounts related to pensions $ 1,012,507
Proprietary funds:

Sewage collection and disposal:

Amoums related to pensions 40,394
Solid waste disposal:
Amounts related (o pensions 28,081
Water treatment and distribution:
Amounis related to pensions 31,16)
Municipal airport:
Amounts relaied to pensions 14,860
Total proprietary funds 114,496
Total deferred outflows of resources S 1.127,003

Deferred inflows of resources consist of the following:

Exhibit A Exhibit C-1
Governmental activities:
General fund:
Property taxes levied prior (o their due date S - § 585,630
Future debi forgiveness on loans outstanding 1,288,966 -
Amounis related to pensions 1,562,565 -
Total governmental activities 2,851,531 $ 585.630
Proprietary funds:
Sewage collection and disposul:
Fulure debt forgiveness on loans outstanding 966,724
Amounts related to pensions 62,339
Solid wasle disposal:
Amounts related to pensions 43,336
Waler frealment and distribution:
Future debt forgiveness on loans outstanding 966,724
Amounts related 1o pensions 48,089
Municipal airport:
Amounts related 1o pensions 22,933
Tolal proprictary funds 2,110,145
Tota) deferred inflows of resources 3 4,961,676
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AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
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NOTE 13 — CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS

The City has active construction projects as of December 31, 2015. Thc projects include street construction, water and sewer
improvements, airport improvements, sidewalk construction, and other capital improvemenis. At year-end the City’s
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Accounts Intergovernmental Contracts Retainage Remaining
Payable Payable Payable Payable Commitment
Governmental activities:
Capital improvements $ - $ 2,397,042 $ 574473 $ 124,788 $ 1,853,842
Business-type activities:
Capial improvements $ - $ 18,848,279 $ 1,577,369 $ 870,107 $ 2,625,678
Airport improvements 459,057 - - 25,008 607,628
Tota) $ 459,057 $ 18,848,279 $ 1,577,369 $ 895,115 $ 3.233.306
NOTE 14 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Changes in the City’s long-terin liabilities consisted of the following for the year ended December 31, 2015:
Governmental activities:
Balance
January 1, Balance
2015 December 31, Due Within
(as restated) Additions Reductions 2015 One Year
3ands payable:
General obligation bonds 3 26,559,763 $ - $ (2,411,483) § 24,148.280 $ 2.366.483
Premiums 700,728 - (56,012) 644,716 56,012
Tota! bonds payable 27,260,491 - (2,467,495) 24,792 996 2,422,495
Capilal leases 64,193 389,215 (132,913) 320,495 109.341
Compensated absences 1,223,837 158,666 (9,929) 1,372,574 24.823
Net other postemployment benefits 1,197.314 82,794 ~ 1,280,108 -
Total long-term habilities § 29.745.833 $  063U.0675 $ (2610337 § 27,766,173 $ 2,556,059
Business-type activities:
Balance
Tanuary 1, Balance
2015 December 31, Due Within
(as restated) Additions Reduclions 20135 Onc Year
Bonds payable
General obligation bonds $ 23,107,976 $ - § (1,843,541) § 21,264,435 $§ 1.665,831
Premiums 860,828 - (54,777) 806,051 54,777
Total bonds payable 23,968,804 - (1,898,318) 22,070,486 1,720,608
Compensated absences 321,526 6,924 (16,542) 311,908 -
Accrued landfill closure and postclosure care costs 8,091,798 152,673 - 8,244,471 18.400
Net other postemployment benefits 223,075 27,015 - 250,090 -
Total long-term liabilitics § 32.605,203 $ 186,612 $ (1,914,860) § 30,876,955 § 1.739.008
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Long-term liabilities are comprised of the following:

Governmental activities:

General obligation bonds payable:
(Majornity multi purpose)

Bond premium

Capital leases payable:

Ford Interceptor

FFord Inierceptor

ford Fusion

IFord [Fusion

Jord SUV and 5 Forg sedans
Ford Intercepror

Ford Intercepror

Servers and related equipment

Compensated absences payable:
Accnied vacation leave
Other postemployment benefit
Tital

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Outstanging at

Criginal Issue Maturity Interest December 31, Current
Amount Date Date Rate % 2015 Portion
$§ 5,273,904 2000 2020 5.125-5.50 $ 1,200,000 $§ 240,000
$ 2,490,682 2001 2021 4.125-3.00 715,200 119,200
$ 2,490,682 2002 2022 3.00-5 00 660,000 100,000
$ 1,118,620 2003 2023 4.00-6.00 445280 55,660
$ 3,506,098 2004 2024 3.00-5.00 1,549,287 172,143
$ 4,583,082 2005 2025 4.00-4.50 2,250,000 225,000
$ 4,441,665 2006 2026 4.50-5.00 2,445,000 225,000
$ 6,584,511 2007 2027 4.00-4.75 3,798,200 338,600
$ 2,396,404 2008 2028 4 00-4.123 1,193,826 159,523
$ 3,797,000 2009 2029 3.02-5.02 1,828,000 136,000
5 3,948,393 2010 2030 3.823 2,940,550 202,370
$ 3,651,784 201 2031 3.55 2,850,000 205,000
§ 428374 2012 2032 2.57-3.18 355,300 23,950
3 2,912,891 2014 2034 3.392 1,332,637 74,035
$ 655,000 2014 2024 5.0 585,000 70,000
24,148,280 2,366,483
644,716 56,012
24,792,996 2,422,495
$ 20,335 2013 2017 5.45 8,332 4,056
$ 29,168 2014 2018 6.45 17,456 5,459
$ 19,730 2014 2018 6.45 11,807 3,692
$ 20,289 2015 2019 393 15,749 3,603
$ 179,380 2015 2017 4.75 116,791 57,041
$ 36,159 2018 2017 6.50 12,044 5,832
5 42,115 2015 2019 6.45 32,608 7,404
S 111,272 2015 2020 4.29 105,708 22,254
320,495 109,341
1,372,574 24,823
1,280,108 -
$ 27,766,173 $ 2,556.659
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Business-type acrivities:
Outstanding at

Original Jssue Maturity Interest December 31, Current
Amount Date Date Rate % 2015 Portion
General obligation bonds payable:
(Majority multi purpose) $ 886,223 1996 2016 5.125-5.750 $ (5,000 3 15,000
$ 3,297,982 2001 2021 4.125-5.00 154,800 25,800
3 609,188 2002 2022 3.00-5.00 120,000 60,000
$ 1,769,210 2003 2023 4.00-6.00 154,720 16,340
$ 1,281.902 2004 2024 3.00-5.00 250,713 27,857
$ 1,254,393 2005 2025 4.00-4.50 600,000 60,000
$ 2,070,164 2006 2026 4.50-5.00 1,145,000 105,000
$ 1,901,689 2007 2027 4.00-4.75 1,521,800 111,400
3 1,574,416 2008 2028 2382 1,024,670 78,821
$ 2,030,611 2008 2028 4.00-4.125 1,371,174 105,475
$ 1,410,000 2009 2029 3.02-5.02 957,000 69,000
$ 3,152,607 2010 2030 3.823 2,364,450 157,630
$ 4,720,716 2011 2031 3.55 3,760,000 235,000
$ 1,294,062 2011 2031 3.58 566,453 28,405
$ 4,306,526 2012 2032 2.57-3.18 3,279,700 341,050
$ 2,207,000 2013 2033 4.10-5.60 1,980,000 115,000
§ 4,369.336 2014 2034 3.392 1,998,955 111,053
21,264,435 1,665,831
Bond premium 806,051 54.777
22,070.486 1,720.608
Accrued laadfill closure and postclosure cuare costs payable 8,244 471 18,400
Compensated absences payable:
Accrued vacation feave 311.908 -
Other postemployement benefit 250,090 -
Total $ 30,876,955 $ 1.739,008

The annual requirements to amortize all general obligation bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2015, incloding interesy
paywments, are as follows:

Governmental activifies:

Fiscal Year Ending

December 31, Principal Interest Total
2016 $  23060,483 $ 1,076,560 $ 3,443,043
2017 2,341 .483 950,431 3.291.914
2018 2,324,893 827,485 3,152.378
2019 2,232,893 690,136 2,923,029
2020 2,192,893 598,066 2,790,959
2021-2025 8,469,205 1,634,366 10,103,571
2026-2030 3,787.603 486,431 4,274,034
2031-2034 432.827 23.980 456,807

Tolals 5 24148.280 IG 6,287,455 $ 30435735
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Business-type activities:

I'iscal Year linding

December 31, Principal Interest Total
2016 § 1665831 b 880,255 S 2,546,086
2017 1,651,645 813,560 2,672,719
2018 1,589,071 749,666 2,374,269
2019 1,596,932 683,654 2,280,586
2020 (,592,818 621,380 2,214,198
2021-2025 7,538,544 2,109,048 9,647,592
2026-2030 4,633,771 732,712 5,366,483
2031-2034 995,823 68,968 1,064,791

Totals $ 21,264,435 $ 6,659,243 $ 28,166,724

‘'he premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the bonds.

All debt is general obligation debt of the City, which is backed by its full faith and credit, and will be repaid from general
governmental revenues.

Accrued Landfill Closure and Posiclosure Care Costs — Federal and State laws and regulations require that the City place a
final cover on its landfills when closed and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill sites after
closure. A liability is being recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred. The
recognition of these landfill closure and postclosure carc costs is based on the amount of the landfill used through the end of the
year. The estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs has a balance of $8,244,471 us of December 31, 20135,
which is based on 100% usage of the closed unlined landfill, 100% usage of the closed C&D debris landfill, 100% usage of the
secured (lined) landfi)l Phases 1 and 1A, and 44% usage of the secured (lined) landfill Phases 1IB and 1[C. The estimated total
current cost of the landfil) closure and postelosure care is based on the amount that would be paid if al) equipment, facilities, and
services required to close, monitor and maintain the landfill were acquired as of December 31, 2015, However, the actual cost of
closure angd posiclosure care may be higher or lower due 10 inflation, changes in technology, or changes in landfill laws and
regulations.

The City expects to finance the closure and postclosure care costs through contemporaneous setting aside of sufficient amounts
in a capital reserve fund.

This space intentionally left blank.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 15 - LEASE OBLIGATIONS

The City has entered into certain capital lease agreements under which the related equipment will become the property of the
City when all the terms of the lease agreements are met. The annual requirements to amortize capital leases payable as of
December 31, 2015, including interest payments, are as follows:

Governmental activities:

Fiscal Year Ending

December 31, Principal Interest Total
2016 S 109,341 $ 16,497 3 125,838
2017 113,933 11,905 125,838
2018 46,913 7,463 54,376
2019 35,471 5,615 41,086
2020 14,837 3,189 18,026
Totals $ 320,495 $ 44,669 s 365,164

NOTE 16 -~ ENCUMBRANCES
Encumbrances outstanding at December 31, 2015 are as follows:

General fund:
General government:

Executive § 70,871
Election and registration 1,741
Financial admipisiration 260,003
Planning ang zoning 60,674
Public safety:
Police 3,749
Fire 3,000
Highways and streets:
Public works garage 12,943
Highways and streets 43,376
Other 1,000
Total encumbrances $ 457357

This space intentionaily left blank.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

As of December 31, 20135, the City is due 10 receive the following annual amounts to offset debt payments of both governmental
and business-type activities:

Governmental activities:
Fiscal Year Ending

December 31. Principal Interest Total
2016 $ 14,571 $ 1,588 5 16,159
2017 15,390 2,538 17,928
2018 4,890 3.706 8,596
2019 6,362 4,586 10,948
2020 7,145 5,560 12,705

202)-2025 43.713 26,016 69,729
2026-2030 43,289 17,068 60,357
2031-2035 41333 8,471 49,804
2036-2040 26,440 1,752 28,192
2041 1,275 - 1,275
Towals $ 204,408 $ 71,285 § 275,693

Business-type activities:

I'iscal Year Ending

December 31, Principal Interest Total
2016 $ 75,248 $ 18,707 S 93,955
2017 56,461 10,989 67,450
2018 40.177 12,088 52,265
2019 41,851 12,757 34,608
2020 42,491 13,565 56,056

2021-2025 185,957 55,349 241,306

2026-2030 103,893 27,561 131,456

2031-2035 61,999 12,706 74.705

2036-2040 39,661 2,629 42,290
2041 1913 - 1,913
Torals $ 649,633 $ 166,351 $ 816,004

NOTE 18 - GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES NET POSITION

Governmental and business-type activities net position reporied on the government-wide Statement of Net Position at
December 31, 20135 include the following:

Governmental Business-type
Activities Aclivilies Total

Net investinent in capital assuts:

Netbook value ol all capital assets § 87,465,723 $ 83.285,635 S 170.751,358
Less:

Cieneral obligation bonds payable {24.148,280) (21.264,435) (45,412,718)

Unamortized bond premiums (644,716) (806,051) (1,450.767)

Capilal leases payable (320.495) - (320,495)

Tolal net investment in capital assets $2.352,232 61215149 123,567,381

Restricied net position:

Permanent funds 1,263,311 - $ 1,263,311

Capilal projects - 2,100.337 2,100,337

Total restricted net position 1,263,311 2,100,337 3,363,648
Unrestricled (16,516.571) (14,343.735) (30,860,306)
I'otal net posivion TS 47.098.972 § 48971,751 $ 96,070,723
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 19 - GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financia) statements at December 31, 2015 include the following:

Capital Other Total
General Improvemenis Governmental CGovernmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds
Nonspendable:
Prepaid jteimns $ 155177 $ - b - S 155,177
Tax deeded property, subjecl 1o resale 48.954 - - 48,954
Nonexpendable portion of permanent trust funds - - 1,263,311 1,263,311
Tolal nonspendable 204,131 - 1,263,311 1,467,442
Restricted:
Library - - 140132 140.132
Committed:
Expendable trust funds 271.009 - - 271,009
Heritage Fund 4,706 - - 4,706
Police outside detail - - 114,892 114.892
LOST Accoum - - 751,821 751,821
Public safety revolving - - 2,922 2,922
Tolal committed 275,715 - 869,635 1,145,350
Assigned:
Encumbrances 457,357 - - 457,357
Abatements 475,629 - - 475,629
Granis 15,909 - - 15,909
Restricled funds 117,097 - - 417,097
Emergency management 45,411 - - 45411
Farmers market - - 2,279 2,279
T'otal assigned 1,411,403 - 2,279 1,413,682
Unassigned (deficil):
General fund 6,113,472 - - 6,113,472
Capual improvements fund - (2,678,644) - (2,678,644)
Total unassigned 6,113,472 (2,678,644) - 3,434,828
Total fund balance (deficit) $ 8,004,721 $  (2.678,644) $ 2275357 $§ 7,601,434

This space intentionally lefi blank.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 21 — DEFICIT FUND BALANCE/UNRESTRICTED NET POSITION

The following funds hagd a deficit fund balance/unrestricted net position at December 31, 2015 caused by current and prior year
operations, and will be made up as follows:

Amaoni Made up by:
Major fund:
Capital improvenments $  (2,678.644) Future issuance of bonds or notes
Proprietary funds:
Major funds:
Sewage collection and disposal $ (14,916,203) Twwre issuance of bonds or noles
Water (reatiment and disiribution $  (2,329,510) Future issuance of bonds or noles
Municipal Airport B\ (500,773)  Yuture operations and/or (uture lax revenue

NOTE 22 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

Plan Description: I'he New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS or the System) is a public employee retirement system that
administers one cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan (Pension Plan), a component unit of the State of
New Hampsbhire, as defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for
Pension Plans — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25. The Pension Plan was established in 1967 by RSA 100-A:2 and is
qualified as a tax exempt organization under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Pension Plan is a
contributory, defined benefit plan providing service, disability, death and vested retirement bencfits (o members and their
beneficiaries. Substantially all foll-time state employees, public school teachers and administrators, permanent firefighters and
permanent police officers with in the State are eligible and required to participate in the Pension Plan. The System issues a
publically available financial report that may be obtained by writing the New Hampshire Retirement System, 54 Regional Drive,
Concord, NH 03301.

Benefits Provided: The Pension Plan is divided into two membership groups. State and local employees and teachers belong to
Group 1. Police and firefighters belong to Group II. All asseis are held in a single trust and available o pay retirement benefits
10 all members.

Group | members at age 60 or 65 (for members who commence service after July |, 2011) quality for a normal service retirement
allowance based on years of creditable service and average final salary for the highest of either thrce or five years, depending cn
when their service commenced. The yearly pension amount is 1/60 or 1.667% of average final compensation (AFC), multiplied
by years of creditable service. At age 65, the yearly pension amoum 1s recalculated at [/66 or [.515% of AFC multiplied by
years of creditable service.

Group I members who are age 60, or members who are at least age 45 with at least 20 years of creditable service, can receive a
retirement allowance at a rate of 2.5% of AFC for each year of creditable service, not to exceed 40 years. Members commencing
service on or after July 1, 2011 or members who have nonvested status as of January 1, 2012 can receive a retirement allowance
atage 52.5 with 25 years of service or age 60. The benefit shall be equal to 2% of AFC times creditable service up to 42.5 years.
However, a member who commenced service on or after July 1, 2011 shall not receive a retirement allowance until attaining the
age of 52.5, but may receive a reduced allowance after age 50 if the member has at least 25 years of creditable service where the
allowance shall be reduced, for each month by which the member attains 52.5 years of age by Y4 of 1% or age 60.

Members of both groups may qualify for vested deferred allowances, disability allowances and death benefit allowances, subject
to meeting various eligibility requirements. Benefits are based on AFC or earnable compensation and/or service.

Contributions: The System is financed by contributions from both the employees and the City. Member contribution rates are
established and may be amended by the State legislature while employer contribution rates are set by the System trusiees based
on an actuarial valuation. For fiscal year 2015, all employees except police officers and firefighters were required to contribute
7% of earnable compensation. The contribution ratcs were 11.55% for police officers and 1(.80% for firefighters.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,2015

The City's contribution rates for 2015 for pension and inedical subsidy were as follows:

Period Police Fire All Other Employ ees
January 1. 2015 thru June 30, 2015 2530%  27.74% 10.77%
July 1, 2015 thru December 33. 2015 26.38%  29.16% 11.17%

The contribution rcquirements for the fiscal years 2013, 2014, and 2015 were $1,703,858, $1,899,756, and $2,048,022,
respectively, which were paid in full in each year.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, und Deferred Outflows of Resources und Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions - At December 31, 2015 the City reported a liability of $20,607,815 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions fo the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of
all participating towns and schoal districts, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the City’s proportion was 0.52019880%
which was an increase of 0.00481347% (rom its proportion measured as of June 30, 2014.

At December 31, 2015 the City reporied deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Governmenial activities Business-type activities Tolal
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferrcd

Outltows of Inflows of Outflows of  Inflows of Outflows of’ Inflows of

__Resaurees Resources Resources Resources Resources Resources
Changes in proportion § 1409149 § 661475 § 16,866 § 74,801 § 166,015 § 736,276
Differences belween expected and actval experience - 406,276 - 45,942 - 452218

Net difference between projected and actual investment

earnings on pension plan investments - 494 814 - 55,954 - 550,768
Contributions subsequent (o the mcasurement date 863.358 - 97.630 - 960,988 -
Total _f 1012507 8 1.562,565  § 114,496 5 176,697 § 1.127,003 _§ 1,739,262

The $863,358 and $97,630 reported as deferred ouflows of resources related 1o pensions results from the City contributions
subsequent to the measurcment date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31,
2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending Governmental Business-type
December 31, Activities Activities Total
2016 5 (505.862) § (57.204) §  (563,066)
2017 (505.862) (57.204) (563,066)
2018 (505.862) (57,204) (563,066)
2019 127.231 14,387 141,618
2020 (23.059) (2,608) (25,667)
Totals S o4y % (159.833) § (1.573,247)
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Actuarial Assumprions: The collective total pension liability was deterinined by a roll forward of the actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2014, using the following actuarial assumptions which, accordingly apply to both 2015 and 2014 measurements:

Inflation: 3.0%
Salary increases: 3.75- 5.8% average, including inflation
Investment rate of return:  7.75% net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 mortality table, projected to 2020 with Scale AA. The table includes a margin of
15% for men and 7% for women for mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2014 valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience
study, which was for the pertod July 1, 2005 — June 30, 2010.

Long—term Rutes of Return: The long-iterm expected rate of return on pension plan investment was selected from a best estimate
range determined using the building block approach. Under this method, an expected future real return range is calculated
separately for each asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real ratc of return net of investment expenses by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Following is a table presenting targel allocations and long-term rates of return for 2015 and 2014:

Weighted average long-term

Targel expected real rate of seturn
Asset Class Allocation 2015 2014
Large Cap Equities 22.50% 3.00% 3.25%
Small/Mid Cap Lquities 7.50% 3.00% 3.25%
Total domestic equity 30.00%
Int'l Equities (unhedged) 13.00% 4,00% 4.25%
Fmerging Int'l Equities 7.00% 6.00% 6.75%
Toial international equity 20.00%
Core Bonds 4.50% (0.70%) (0.47%)
Short Dutation 2.50% (1.00) 0.00%
Global Mulli-Sector Fixed Income 11.00% (0.28%) 0.00%
Unconstrained Fixed Income 7.00% (0.16%) 0.00%
High-Yield Bonds 0.00% 0.00% 1.50%
Global Bonds (unhedged) 0.00% 0.00% (1.75%)
Emerging Market Debt (exiernal) 0.00% 0.00% 2.00%
Total fixed income 25.00%
Privale equity 5.00% 5.50% 5.75%
Private debt 5.00% 4.50% 5.00%
Rea) estate 10.00% 3.50% 3.25%
Opponunjstic 5.00% 2.75% 2.50%
Total alternative investmentis 25.00%

Total 100.00%



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Discount Rate: 'I'he discount rate used to measure the collective total pension liability was 7.75%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that
employer contributions will be made at rates equal (o the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. For purposes of the projection, member contributions and employer service cost contributions are projected based
an the expected payroll of current members only. Employer contributions are determined based on the Pension Plan’s actuarial
funding policy as required by RSA 100-A:16. Bascd on those assumptions, the Pension Plan's fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members. Therefore, the long-term
expected rate of return on Pension Plan imvestmeat was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
collective total pension Jiability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: The following table
presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.75% as well as what the
City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated nsing a discount rate that is l-percentage
point Jower (6.75%) or |-percentage point higher (8.75%) than the current rate:

Governmental activities:

Actuarial Current Single
Valuation 1% Decrease Rate Assumplion [% Increase
Daie 6.75% 7.75% 8.75%
June 30, 2015 $ 24,371,542 $ 20,145,430 § 13,520,787
June 30, 2014 S 22,892,377 $ 18,911,370 $§ 12,729,610
June 30,2013 $ 26,865,800 $ 22,802,169 $ 15,987,924
Business-type activities:
Actuarial Curren( Single
Valuation 1% Decrease Rate Assumption 1% Increase
Date 6.75% 7.75% 8.75%
June 30,2015 $ 2,755,967 $ 462,385 $ 1,528,949
June 30, 2014 §  2,588.701 S 434,060 $ 1,439,482
lone 30,2013 S 3.038,02! 3 523,363 $ 1,807,936

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan’s f[iduciary net position is available in the
separately issued New Hampshire Retirement System Cost-Sharing Multiple Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan financial
report.

NOTE 23 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)

The City provides postemployment benefit options for health care to cligible retirees, terminated employees, and their
dependents m accordance with the provisions of various employment contracts and collective bargaining agreements. The
benefit levels, employee contributicns, and employer contributions are governed by the City’s contractua} agreements.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions GASB Staiement No. 45 requires that the long-term cost of
retirement health care and obligations for other postemploymem benefits (OPEB) be determined on an actuarial basis and
reported similar to pension plans. GASB Statement No 45 does not mandatc the pre-funding of postemployment benefit
liabilities. However, any pre-funding of these benefits will help minimize or eliminate the postemployment benefit obligation
that wil) be required to be reported on the financial statements.

55



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

‘I'he City has only partially funded (on a pay-as-you-go basis) the annual required contribution (ARC), an actvarially determined
rate in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an
ongoing basis, is projected to cover normnal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actoaria) liabilities over a period not to
exceed 30 years. The following table presents the OPEB cost for the year, the amount contributed and changes in the OPEB plan
for fiscal year 2015:

Aonual required contribution/OPEB cost $ 244395
Contributions made (pay-as-you-go) (134,586)

Increase in net OPEB obligation 109,809
Net OPT-3 obligation, beginning 1.420.389
Net OPERB obligation, ending $ 1,530,198

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPER cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPLB obligation for
fiscal year 2015 and the five preceding years were as follows:

Annual
OPrB Actual
Fiscal Year Contribution Contributions Percentage Net OPIIB
Ended Cost {pary-as-you-go) Contribuled Obligution
December 31, 2013 $ 244,395 S 134,586 55.1% $ 1,530,198
December 31, 2014 § 236101 $ 120,319 50.9% $ 1,420,389
December 31, 2013 $ 251,291 $ 121,199 48.2% $ 1,304,547
December 31, 20102 $ 241,786 $ 101,840 42.1% $ 1,174,455
December 31,2011 $ 385011 $ 149,63 | 38.9% $ 1.034,509
December 31, 2010 $ 367,873 3 128,018 34.8% $ 799,129

As of January 1, 2014, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the actuarial acerued liability (AAL) for benefits was
$2,555,229, with no actuarial value of assets, vesulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $2,555,229. The
covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $9,474,293 during fiscal year 2015, and the ratio
of the UAAL, to the covered payroll was 26.97%.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability
of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.
Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revisions as actual results are compared with past expectations and new
estimates are made about the future. The Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Postemployment Benefits Plan, presented as
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, is designed to present multiyear trend
information about whether the actvarial value of the plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial
accrued labilities for benefits.

Projections of benetits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer
and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the iime of cach valuation and the historical pattern of
sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The projection of benefits for financial reporting
purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost
sharing between the employer and plan members in the future. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques
that arc designed to reduce the effect of short-tevm volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets,
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

[n the Janvary 1, 2014 actuanal valuation, the Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method was used. The actuarial assumptions included a
4.0% investrent rate of return per annum. The projected annual healtheare cost trend is 9% initially, reduced by decrements to
an ultmate rate of 5.0% for years 2018 and later. The UAAL is being amortized as a level dollar amount over an open basis.
The remaining amortization period at December 31, 20)5 was 30 years.



CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 24 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets; errocs or omissions;
injuries to employees; or natural disasters. During fiscal year 2015, the City was a member of the Local Government Center
Property-Liability Trusi, LLC Workers’ Compensation and Property/Liability Programs. This entity is considered a public entity
risk pool, currently operating as common risk management and insurance programs for its members.,

The Local Government Center Property-Liability Trust, LLC, s a Irust organized to provide certain property and liability
insorance coverages to member towns, cities, and other qualified political subdivisions of New |lampshire. As a member of the
Local Government Center Property-Liability Trust, LLC, the City shares in contributing to the cost of, and receiving benefits
from, a self-insured pooled risk management program. The membership and coverage run frem July | to June 30. The program
maintains a self-insured retention above which it purchases reinsurance and excess insurance. This poficy covers property, auto
physical dammage, crime, general liability, and public officials’ hability subject to a $1,000 deductible.

Contributions paid in fiscal year ending December 31, 20135, to be recorded as an insurance expenditure totaled $309,100. The
City also paid $397,125 for workers' compensation insurance during 2015. There were no uapaid contributions for the year
ended December 31, 2015,

NOTE 25 — CAFETERIA BENEFIT PLAN

Effective July 1, 1991, the City iimplemented a cafeteria benefit plan pursuant to Section 125 of the RS tode. Under this plan,
eligible employees may direct a contribution, made by the City, into any combination of the following benefit categories:

1. Medical Insurance Premium Account;
2. Out of Pocket Medical Spending Account; or
3. Dependent Care Spending Account

In addition to directing the City’s contribution io the above categories, eligible employees may elect to contribute pre-tax dollars
to these categories. Undcer no circumstances may an employee direct more than $35,000 annually into the Dependent Care
Spending Account. This cap applies to both City contributions and employee pre-tax contribotions. The City has a limit of
$1,000 on contributions to the Medical Spending Account or Health Premium Account.

All regular full-time and part-time employees employed on a regular and continuous basis are eligible to participate in this plan.
Temporary and casual employees are not eligible. The plan year adopted by the City begins on July [* and ends on June 30" of
the following year. To obtain reimbursement of expenses incurred within a plan year within the spending accounts (items 2 and
3 above), employees must submit claims within 90 days of the end of the plan year or separation of service from the City,
whichever occurs fivst. Funds unclaimed afier 90 days of the close of the plan year are then remitied io the City.

NOTE 26 — CONTINGENCILS

There are various legal ¢laims and sutts pending against the City which arose in the nosmal comse of the operations. In the
opinion of management, the uitimate disposition of these various claims and suits will not have a material effect on the financial
position of the City.

The City participates in various federal grant programs, the principal of which are subject 10 program compliance audits pursuant
to the Single Audit Act as amended. Accordingly, the government’s compliance with applicable grant requirements will be
established at a future date The amount of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be
determined at this time, although the govermment anticipates such amounts, if any, will be immaterial.

NOTE 27 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are eveats or transactions that occur after the balance shect date, but before the financial statements are
issued. Recaognized subsequent events are events or transactions that provided additiona) evidence about conditions that existed
ai the balance sheet date, including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing the financial statements. Nonrecognized
subsequent events are events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the balance sheet date, but arose after
the date. Management has evaluated subsequent events through September (2, 2016, the date the December 31, 2015 financial
statements were available 10 be issued. and no eventis occurred that require recognition or disclosure.
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EXHIBIT G
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Postemployment Benefit Plan
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Actuarial UAAL as

Acluarial Accrued Unfunded a Percentage

Actuarjal Value of Liabifity AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Valuaton Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Ratjo Payroll Payrol)
Dale (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) (|b-a}/c)
December 31, 201(5 $ - $ 2,555,229 $ 2,555,229 0.00% S 9,474,293 26.97%
December 31, 2014 b - § 2,454,840 $ 2,454,840 0.00% $ 9,243,213 26.56%
December 31,2013 $ - $§ 2,572,422 $ 2,572,422 0.00% $ 9,988,780 25.75%
December 31,2012 § - $ 2,446,659 $ 2,446,659 0.00% § 9,745,151 25.11%
December 31,2011 $ - $ 3,606,104 $ 3,606,104 0.00% $ 9,903,108 36.40%
December 31,2010 $ - $ 3,606,104 $ 3,606,104 0.00% § 9,661,569 37.30%

The notes 1o the required supplecmentary information is an integral part of this schedule.
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EXHIBIT H
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of the City's Proportlonnte Share of Net Pension Liability
New Hampshire Retirement System Cost Sharing Maltiple Employer Defined Benefit Plan
For the Fiscal Yeur Ended December 31, 2015

Town Proportionate

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

Town's Proportionate Share of Nel Pension as a Percentage
I'iscal Valuation Proportion of Net Share of Net Covered Liability as a Percentage of the Total
Year Date Pension Uiability  Pension Liability Payrol) ol Covered Payroll Pension Liability
December 31, 2015 July 1, 2015 0.52019880% § 20,607,815 $ 11,206,359 183.89% 65.47%
December 31, 2014 July 1, 2014 0.51538533% $ 19,345,430 § 10.876,951 177.86% 66.32%
December 31, 2013 July 1, 2013 0.54197723% § 23,325,532 $ 11,097,378 210.19% 59.81%

T'he notes to the required supplementary information is an integral part of this schedule.
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EXHIBIT |
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of City Contribiitions
New Hampshire Retirement Spstems Cosr Sharing Multiple Employer Defined Benefit Plan

For the Fiscal Year Ended Decemmber 31, 2015

Contractually

Contribution

Contribotions as

Fisca) Valuation Required Actual Deficiency Covered a Percentage of

Year Date Contribution Coniribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll
December 31, 20)5 July 1, 2015 $ 1,745,205 $ 1,745,205 $ - $ 11,206,359 15.57%
December 31, 2014 July 1,2014 $ 1,672,029 $ 1,672,029 $ - $ 10,876,951 15.37%
December 31, 2013 Tuly 1,2013 § 1,347,646 S 1,347,646 $ - $ 11097378 12.14%

The notes to the required supplementary information is an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDLED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

As required by GASB Siatement No. 45, Exhibit G represents the actuarial determined costs associated with the City’s other
postemployment benefits for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, and the preceding five years.

The GASB standard on accounting for postretirement henefits other than pensious requires the following disclosures in the
financial statements with regard to the retiree benefit liabibity:

A brief description of the retirce medical insurance plan:

a. Plun Types: Medical
’re 65 retirees have their choice of Anthem Blue Cross / Blue Shield JY Plan,
Comp 100 Plan, Comp 300 Plan, or Biue Choice Plan  Post 65 retirees have
the choice of Anthem Medicomp MC 3 or Medicomp MCNRX.

b. Eligibitity: Group 1
Hired prior to 7/1/11: Members may retire at age 60; or once their age plus
service equals 70.
Hired on or after 7/1/11: Members may retire al age 65
Group 2
Vested prior io 1/1/12: Members may retire a1 age 60; or at age 45 with 20
years of service.
Nol vested prior 1o 1/1/12, but hired prior to 7/1/t1: Members may retire
at age 60; or upon atrainment of the mininum age and servie requirements
according to the following table:

Years of Creditable Service Minimum Age Minimum Service
as of January 1, 2012

Au least 8 but less than 10 years 46 21

Al least 6 but less than 8 years 47 22

Al least 4 but less than 6 years 48 23

Less than 4 years 49 24

Hired on or after 7/1/11: Members may retire at age 60; or at age 52.5 with
235 years of service.

¢. Benefit/Cost Sharing The retiree is responsible for the full price of the medical premium.
d. Spouse Benefit Yes
e. Surviving Spouse Benefit Yes

- Annual Medical
Premiums 1/1/2014:

Plan Single Couple Family
Pre 63 Blue Choice Plan ) 9,984.00 $§ 19,968.00 % 26,956.92
Comp 100 Plan S 11,998.44 § 23996.76 S 32,395.68
Comp 300 Plan k) 10,939.56 § 21,879.12  § 29.536.80
1Y Plan 3 12,654.36 § 25308.72 § 34,166.76
Post 65 Medicomp MC3 $ 6,372.36
Medicomp MCNR $ 242112
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

FOR THFE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015

Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability & Schedule of City Contributions

As required by GASB Statement No. 68, and as amended by GASB Statement No. 71, Exhibits H and | represent the actuarial
determined costs associated with the City’s pensjon plan at December 31, 2015.

iViethads and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates for Fiscal Year 2015:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage-of-Payroll, Closed

Remaining Amonization Period 25 Years beginning July (, 2014

Asset Valuation Method 5-Year smooth market for funding purposes

Price Inflaticn 3.0% per year

Wage Inflation 3.75% per year

Salary Increases 5.8% Average, including inflation

Municipal Bond Rate 4.29% per year

Investment Rate of Return 7.75% per year

Retirement Age Lxperience-based table of ratcs that are specific to the type of eligibility condition. Last

updated for the 2011 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the period 2005-2010.

Mortality RP-2000 mortality table, projected to 2020 with Scale AA. The table includes a margin of
15% for men and 17% for women for moniality improvements,

Other Information:

Notes Countribution rates for Fiscal Year 2015 were determined based on the benefit changes
adopted under House Bill No. 2 as amended by 011-25)3-CofC,
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SCHEDULE 1
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Mujor General Fund
Schedule of Estimated and Actual Revenues (Non-GAAP Budgetury Basis)
Far the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Variance
Positive
Esumated Actua) (Negative)
Taxes.

Property $ 18,217,779 § 17,950,092 $  (267,687)

Yield 3,000 11,447 8,447

[’xcavation 5,630 5.529 (101)

Payment in liei of taxes 1,463,730 1,211,101 (254,629)

Interest and penalties on taxes 180,000 148,714 (31,286)

Total from taxes 19,872,139 19,326,883 (545,256)
Licenses. permits, aud fees:

Molor vehicle permit fees 2,306,460 2,460,339 153,879

Buildiag permits 120,000 234,061 114,061

Other 47,600 57,703 10,103

Tota) from licenses, permits, and fees 2,474,060 2,752,103 278.043
Intergovernmental:

State:

Meals and rooms distribution 651,942 651,942 -
ighway block grant 294,435 296.971 2,536
Other 33,000 33,328 328

Federal:

FEMA 65,153 68,431 3,278
Total from intergovernmental 1,044,530 1,050,672 6.142
Chaiges for services:

Income from depaciments 1.076,140 1,247,323 171,183
Miscellaneous

Sale of municipal property 1,000 24,096 23,096

Interest on investments 7,500 8,338 838

Rent of property 16,500 22,992 6,492

Fines and forfeits 24,500 40,100 15,600

Other 100,000 284,631 184,631

Total from miscellaneous 149,500 380,157 230,657
Otber financing sources:

Transfers in 1,500,220 1,497,382 (2,838)
I'otal revenues and ather financing sources 26,116,589 $ 26,254,520 $ 137,931
Unassigned fund balance used (o reduce tax rate 1,049,551
Total revenues, other financing sources, and use of fund balance S 27.166.140
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SCHEDULE 2

CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Major General Funid

Schedule of Appropriations, Expenditures, and Encumbrances (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Current:
General government:
Executive
Election and regisiration
Financial administration
Legal
Personne! administration
Planning and zoning
General government buildings
Cemeieries
Insurance, not otherwise allocated
Advertising and regional associations
Other
Total general government

Public safety:
Police
Fire
Building inspection
Other
Total public safety

Highways and streets:
Public works garage
Highways and streets
Bridges
Street lighting
Other
Towal highways and sireels

Welfare:
Adminisiration
Vendor payntents

Total welfare

Cultare and recreation:
Parks ang recreation
l.ibrary
Patriotic purposes
Total culiure and recreation

Coaservation

Debl service-
Principal of long-term debl
Interest on long-term debi
Total debt service

Other financing uses:
Transfers oul

Total appropriations, expenditures,
other financing uses, and encumbrances

Encumbered Encumbered Variance
from Prior to Subsequent Pasitive
Year Appropriations Expenditures Year (Negative)
$ 82,709 $ 530,640 $ 511,004 $ 70,871 $ 31,474
- 542,060 519,571 1,741 20,748
154,934 2,627,520 2,370,531 260,003 151,920
- 300,000 212,141 - 87,859
754 362,720 301,326 - 67,148
80,186 776.850 615,735 60,674 180,627
- 319,440 269,445 - 49,995
- 10,750 6.875 - 3,875
- 252,080 247,853 - 4,227
- 23,430 21,171 - 2,259
- 225,380 225,380 - -
318,583 5,975,870 5,301,032 393,289 600,132
33,943 5,188,580 4,731,300 3,749 487,474
10,490 4,116,770 3,946,790 3,000 177,470
- 432,480 424,922 - 7,558
- 938,770 873,809 - 64,961
44,433 10,676,600 9,976,821 6,749 737,463
9.943 843,700 816,260 12,943 24,440
36,102 2,431,160 2,112,166 43,376 311,720
- 2,000 599 - 1,401
- 141,000 153,447 - (12,447}
- 135,100 113,378 1,000 20,722
46,045 3,552,960 3.195,850 57,319 345,836
- 207,820 195,206 - 12,614
- 237,330 237,330 - -
- 445,150 432,536 - 12,614
- 951,630 884,667 - 66,963
- 1,240,270 1,238,309 - 1,961
- 6,000 6,000 - -
- 2,197,900 2.128,976 - 68,924
- 9,280 8,193 - 1,087
- 2,411,500 2,411,483 - 17
- 1,173,690 1.173.606 - 84
- 3,585,190 3,585,089 - 101
- 723,180 729,450 - (6,260)
§ 409.061 $ 27,166,140 $ 25,357947 $ 457357 $  1,759.897
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SCHEDULE 3
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Major General Fund

Schedule of Changes in Unassigned Fund Balance
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Unassigned fund balance, begmning, non-GAAP budgetary basis $ 5,681,942
Changes:
Unassigned fund balance used to redvce 2015 (ax rate (1,049,551)
2015 3udget summary:
Revenue surplus (Schedule 1) $ 137,931
Unexpended balance of appropriabons (Schedule 2) 1,759,897
2015 Budget surplus ),897.828
Increase in nonspendable fund balance G117
Decrease in assigned for abatemenl contingency 2,156
Unassigned fund balance, ending, non-GAAJP budgelary basis (Exhibit D) 6,501,198

Reconclliation of Non-GAAP Basis 10 GAAP Basis

To comply with generally accepled accounting principles by deferring

property taxes not collecied within 60 days of year-end (585,630)
Elimination of the allowance for uncollectible taxes 197,904
Unassigned {und balance, ending, GAAP basis (1:xhibit C-1) § 6,113,472
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SCHEDULE 4
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Combining Balance Sheel
December 31, 205

Special Revenve Funds

Police Public
Public Outside 1.OST Safety Farmers Permanent
Library Detail Account Revalving  Market Fund Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $§ 131,673 § 103,228 § 752,243 § 2922 §2279 § 55,729 § 1,048,074

Investments - - - - - 1,252,176 1,252,176

Accounts reccivable - 11,664 - - - - 11,664

Interfund receivable 8,459 - - - - - 8,459
Total assets $§ 140,132 § 114,892 § 752,243 5 2,922 § 2279 § 1,307,905 _§ 2,320,373
LIABILITTES AND FUND BAJLANCES
Liabilitics:

Accounts payable $ - 8 - $ 422 3 - 3 - 5 - 8 422

Interfung payable - - - - - 44,594 44.594

Total liabilities - - 422 - - 44,594 45,016

Fund balances:

Nonspendable - - - - - 1,263,311 1,263,311

Restricted 140,132 - - - - - 140,132

Committed - 114,892 751,821 2,922 - - 869,635

Assigned - - - - 2,279 - 2,279

Tota! fund balances 140,132 114,892 751,821 2.922 2.279 1,263,311 2,275,357

Total liabilities and fond balances § 140,132 $ 114,892 $ 752,243 § 2922 $ 2279 $ 1,307,905 $ 2,320,373
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SCHEDULE §
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015

Special Revenue Funds

Police Public
Public Oulside LOST Safety Farmers Permanent
Library Detail Account Revolving  Market Fund Toial
Revennes:
Taxes $ - 8 - § 22838 §% - 3 - 3 - 8§ 22,838
Charges for services - 223,190 - 8,747 - - 231,937
Miscellaneous 67,302 - 786 - 12,251 25,708 106,047
Total revenues 67,302 223,190 23,624 8,747 12,251 25,708 360,822
Expenditures:
Current:
General government - - - - - 20,999 20,999
Public safety - 250,820 - 16,910 - - 267,730
Culfure and recreation 76,694 - - - 10,742 - 87,436
Conservation - - 65,226 - - - 65,226
Total expenditures 76,694 250,820 65,226 16,910 10,742 20,999 441,391
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (9,392) (27,630) (41.602) (§,163) 1,509 4,709 (80,569)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 8,459 - - - - - 8,459
Transfers out - - - - - (16,631) (16,631)
Total other financing sources (uses) 8.459 - - - - (16,631) (8.172)
Net change in fund balances (933) (27,630) (41.602) (8.163) 1.509 (11,922) (88,741)
Fund balances, beginning 141,065 142,522 793,423 11.085 770 1,275,232 2,364,098
Fund bafances, ending $ 140,132 3 114,892 § 751,821 $§ 2922 $2279 § 1,263311 § 2,275,357
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SINGLE AUDIT ACT SCHEDULES
AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS



IS

PLODZIK & SANDERSON

Professional Association/Accountants & Auditors
193 North Main Street o Concord « New Hampshire » 03301-5063 & 603-225-6996 « FAX-224-1380

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

T'o the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshire

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, und aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Lebanon, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the
financial staiemeuts, which collectively comprise the City of Lebanon’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report
thereon dated September 12, 2016.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Lebanon’s internal conivol over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose
of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ol
the City of Lebanon’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of 1.cbanon’s
inteynal control.

A deflciency in internaol controf exisis when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or combination or deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstateinent of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a malerial
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not
designed to identify all duficiencies in internal control that might be rmaterial weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
Ilowever, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Lebanon’s financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do
not express such an opinicn. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other maiters that are required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.,
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City of Lebanon
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Siatements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing

Standards

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the seope of our testing of internat control and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report 1s an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Stundards in considering the enlity’s internal
control and compliance Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

September 12, 2016 PLODZIK & SANDERSON
Professional Association
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PLODZIK & SANDERSON

Professional Association/Accountants & Audifors
193 North Main Streel « Concord ¢ New Hampshire ¢ 03301-5063 o 603-225-6996 » FAX-224-]1380

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH
MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To the Members of the City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, New Hampshirve

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of [,ebancn’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the City of Lebanon’s major federal program for the year ended
December 31,2015, The City of Lebanon’s major federal program is identified in the summary of anditor’s results section of the
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.

Muanagement’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of ils federal awards
applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the City of Lebanon's major federal pragram based on our audit of
the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing
standuards gencrally accepted in the United Statcs of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, jssued by the Coinptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2
U.S Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Thosc standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to
obiain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirciments referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit incJudes examining, on a test basis, evidence
about the City of Lebanon’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstiances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program. FHowever, our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Lebanon’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City of Lebanon complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requircments referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Report on Internal Control aver Compliance

Management of the City of Lebanon is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered
the City of Lebanon’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could huve a direct and malenal effect
on the major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Goidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Lebanons intcrnal conirol over
compliance,
70



City of Lebanon
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and Report on Internal Control
Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency n internal control over compliunce is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal contro) over compliance, yet important enough to merit
aftention by those charged with governance,.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or

significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material

weaknesses. However, mater{al weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requircments of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is
not suitable for any other purpose.

September 12, 2016 PLODZIK & SANDERSON
Professional Asscciation
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SCHEDULE 1
CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015

SECTION 1 - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report 1ssued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP:

Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

¢ Materjal weakness(es) identified? yes X no

o Significant deficiency(ies) identified? yes X none reported

Noncompliance material io financial statements noted? yes X ne

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

s Material weakness(es) identified? _yes X no
e Sigutficant deficiency(ies) identified? . yes _X_ none reported
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major federal programs: Unmodified
Any audit indimgs disclosed that are required to be repotted in
accordance with 2 CI'R 200.516(a)? . yes _X_ no
[dentification of major federal programs:
CFDA Number(s) Namie of Federal Program or Clustey
20.106 Airpott Improvement Program
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
type B programs: $750,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes _____ no

SECTION 11 - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

NONE

SECTION 111 —FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

NONE
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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CITY OF LEBANON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Note 1. Busis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal grant activity of the City
of Lebanon under programs of the federal government for the year ended December 31, 2015. The information in this Schedule
is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Fedcral Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requivements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Becavse the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City of Lebanon, it is not intended to and does not present the financial
position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the City of Lebanon.

Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are
recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, Cost Prmmciples for State, Local, and
Indian Tribal Governments, or the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expengitures are
not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits
made in the norinal course of business 10 amounts reporied as expenditures in prior years. The City of Lebanon has elected not
to use the 10-percent de mimimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

Note 3. Loans Outstanding

The City of Lebanon had the following loan balances outstanding at December 31, 2015. The loans madc during the year are
included in the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule.

Ouistanding
Balances at

CFDA Number Program Name December 31, 2015
66.458 Capiralization Grants for Clean $4,133,000

Water State Revolving Funds
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